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1. INTRODUCTION  

The economy of a country can be seen as a net of different relations between “agents and 

principals” and the success of its economic development strategies is a result of a set of factors, 

like capital and labor, and “institutions”, like culture, Constitution, laws, organizations, and 

“checks and balances” mechanisms (North, 1990; Przeworski, 1996; Arrow, 1963; McKelvey, 

1976; Bugarin et al., 2003). These institutions are designed in order to minimize the asymmetric 

information between “agents and principals”, constrain rent-seeking behavior, reduce moral 

hazards, generate externalities, and provide accountability and transparency. The "checks and 

balances" mechanisms are the basis of the governance systems.  

Governance is an expression with a wide range of meanings in literature and is related to 

the system by which entities are directed and controlled (Cadbury, 1992) regarding mainly the 

distribution of power between “agents” who are fundamentally working in the name of 

“principals” (entities’ owners). Since the agents’ interests are sometimes not the same of the 

principals’ interest, they face strong incentives to “moral hazard” behavior (like deviation and 

corruption). Because of this, accountability and transparency are required. 

One way to provide appropriate accountability and transparency to various stakeholders 

(principals) is through financial reporting. Financial reporting are tools of “checks and balances” 

which disclose the outcomes and earnings derived from economic relations between the agents 

and the principals. At the core of financial reports are a set of financial statements which are 

based mostly on accounting data and information systems. So, reliable accounting systems and 

appropriate financial reporting are also part of the entity governance framework. It is valid for 

both government and firms. 

In the public sector, agents and principals include, for instance, public (principals) and 

governments (agents), the legislative branch (principals) and the executive branch (agents), and 

political executives (principals) and civil servants (agents). However, government accounting 

information works in a multidisciplinary environment which includes law, political science, 

economy, and public administration. The stakeholders are diverse and their interests are diffuse. 

Thus, special attention should be given to the government accounting environment. Access to 

the government information is a prerogative of the democratic system because governments 

manage taxpayers' money.  

Otherwise, when a government distributes financial information to the public the 

government is assumed to have the incentive of presenting (only) favorable information (Chan, 

2008b). So, the government information must be subject to scrutiny. In order to increase the 
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credibility and reliability of government financial reports, (a) they are supposed to be prepared 

using appropriate accounting standards, and (b) they are supposed to be subjected to a third-

party revision (independent/external audits). These steps contribute to create governance 

frameworks within the governance system. 

Considering these aspects and in order to produce a study that supplements that literature, 

the purpose of this research paper is to compare, in a descriptive (positive) manner, the U.S. 

federal government financial reporting and Brazilian federal government financial reporting 

regarding their current and proposed governance frameworks. These countries were chosen 

because of the characteristics that they have in common: consolidated constitutional 

democracies, large population, and a model of administration based on fiscal federalism which 

divides power between federal, states and local governments. 

The research paper is divided into five sections. After this introduction, section 2 presents 

some normative aspects regarding good governance, accountability and transparency in the 

public sector. The relationship between good governance and financial reporting will be 

analyzed; some financial reporting models in the public sector will be presented and the 

importance of some ex-ante and ex-post mechanisms established in order to provide reliability, 

credibility and integrity to financial reports will be stressed. This analytical framework of the 

government financial reporting will be the based on Brazil and the United States. Section 3 

presents a positive comparison between Brazil and the United States Federal government 

financial reporting system precisely regarding some characteristics about the standards (body-

setting characteristics and standards content) and about auditing process (audit body 

characteristics and the nature of the engagement), considering the institutional frameworks (legal 

system, public administration and financial administration organization) as a basis to the 

analysis. Section 4 presents some results, normative solutions and impacts. Section 5 presents 

some conclusions that arise from the research. Considering that there is an extensive literature in 

corporate accounting and that literature is scarce in government accounting, it is expected that 

this research paper contributes to improving comparative analysis between countries. 

2. GOVERNANCE, ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY IN THE PUBLIC 

SECTOR 

As mentioned, one way to provide appropriate accountability and transparency to various 

stakeholders (principals) is through financial reporting. Financial reporting are tools of “checks 

and balances” and ultimately part of the governance frameworks. At the core of financial reports 
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are a set of financial statements which are based mostly on accounting data and information 

systems.  

The purpose of this section is to present some normative aspects regarding good 

governance, accountability and transparency in the public sector. It is divided in three 

subsections. The first one presents the relationship between good governance and financial 

reporting. The second presents some financial reporting models in the public sector regarding 

the user’s preferences. The third stresses the importance of some ex-ante and ex-post 

mechanisms established in order to provide reliability, credibility and integrity to financial.  

2.1. The Relationship between Good Governance and Financial Reporting 

Governance is an expression that has a wide range of meanings in the literature and is 

frequently used in both the public and the private sector. It emerged in the economic literature in 

1930. Economists noted the difference of interests between those who effectively control the 

company (managers) and of those who supply the company with foreign investment 

(shareholders). However, the first published benchmark on corporate governance was the 

“Report of the Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance” of 1992 issued by 

the Britain Committee on the Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance (Cadbury Committee). 

It states: “Corporate governance is the system by which companies are directed and controlled”. 

In additional comments, the Cadbury Report’s mentor states: 

Corporate Governance is concerned with holding the balance between economic 
and social goals and between individual and communal goals. The corporate governance 
framework is there to encourage the efficient use of resources and equally to require 
accountability for the stewardship of those resources. The aim is to align as nearly as 
possible the interests of individuals, corporations and society (2003). 

Thus, corporate governance concerns are: a) the distribution of power between agents 

(checks and balances); b) the form of appropriation of value added; and c) the control of 

management. Good governance is defined on the basis of principles. The Cadbury Report’s 

fundamental principles of good governance include: openness, integrity and accountability. 

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) conducted the 

first efforts to develop a universal code of governance. After the Cadbury Report (1992) and the 

OECD code, several other initiatives have been conducted in governance studies. Openness, 

integrity and accountability are common recommendations in all international prescriptions. 

Both accounting (practices, disclosure and transparency) and audit (internal/external) are always 

considered in the same documents as important mechanisms of promoting good governance. For 

this paper the International Federation of Accountants: Governance in the Public Sector: A 

Governing Body Perspective, Study 13, 2001 will be the main source of information. 
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So, good governance is supported by both accountability and transparency. Accountability 

to the stakeholders is based in financial reports. Financial reporting includes both strictly 

financial and other performance reports (e.g. fiscal, results, outcomes). At the core of financial 

reports are a set of financial statements which are based mostly on accounting information 

systems. The financial management system that begins in the accounting systems and ends in the 

financial reports seeks for credibility. Ex-ante financial reporting credibility could be reached by 

a set of appropriate accounting standards. Ex-post financial reporting credibility could be reach 

by a third-party assurance. This framework is designed in order to increase integrity to financial 

reports, improve openness and promote accountability as shown in the figure 1. 

Figure 1. Good Governance, Accountability and Transparency Relationship 

 GOOD GOVERNANCE  
 is supported by  
     
 ACCOUNTABILITY  TRANSPARENCY/DISCLOSURE  

     

 Stakeholders 
 

Financial Reporting  

  
 
 
 

 (Includes both financial + performance)  
    
  Based in Financial Statements  

    
  Based in Accounting Systems  

    
  That seeks for   
  INTEGRITY/CREDIBILIBITY  

  And requires  
     
   Appropriate 

Standards 
Third-Party 
Assurance 

 

      

Source: elaborated by the author. 

In the government, it is not so different. In fact, the fundamental difference between 

government and firms are: (a) the environment in which it occurs (government operates in a 

different and specific context), and (b) the kind of information needed by the stakeholders 

(which is ultimately part of the environment). While business environment is based on the 

owner-centered Coase Theory of the Firm of 1937, the public sector is based on the voter-

centered theory of government (Chan, 2008c). Because of this, the core of financial reporting in 

firms is their financial issues. Otherwise, government operates in a multidisciplinary 

environment which includes law, political science, economy, and public administration. In the 

public sector, the objectives and results of transactions are less visible and quantifiable, the 
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power of direction and control is more dispersed and the goals of the actors are less clear, not 

simply profit. 

Some other specific characteristics of the public sector entities include: a) dependence on 

the political and economic system; b) inclusion, as government functions, of governmental 

activities, and fiduciary activities (e.g. pensions); c) lack of the profit motive; d) necessity of 

complying with legal provisions; e) other complex and indirect methods of control and 

influence, besides ownership; f) diffusion of political power among levels of government, and 

among branches of government at the same level; and g) existence of a public budget (Chan, 

2008c, Ives, 1995). 

In the private sector, it is acceptable to regard management as accountable solely to 

owners, according to agency theory. However, both in theory and in practice, public managers 

are accountable to multiple stakeholders, although more directly to elected officials and 

ultimately to the people. Thus, the stakeholders in the public sector are diverse and their interests 

are diffuse: 

In particular, public sector entities have to satisfy a complex range of political, 
economic and social objectives, which subject them to a different set of external 
constraints. 

They are also subject to forms of accountability to various stakeholders, which are 
different than those that a company in the private sector has to its shareholders, 
customers etc. The stakeholders in the public sector may include the Ministers, other 
government officials, the electorate (Parliament), customers and clients, and the general 
public, each with a legitimate interest in public sector entities, but not necessarily with 
any ‘ownership rights’. (IFAC, 2001) 

Nevertheless, accountability in the public sector is not only a principal-agent problem 

between stockholders and managers but a range of principal-agent relations as described in table 

1.  

Table 1. Accountability in the Public Sector 

Levels of 
Accountability 

Principal Agent Reports 

Democratic/ 
Public 

People Government 
The government (in part or in whole) report 

to the public. 
Managerial/ 
Bureaucratic 

Political executives Civil servants 
Subordinates report to superiors in the 

executive branch. 

Executive Legislature Administration 
The executive reports to the legislative 

oversight bodies. 

Source: based on Chan (2008c) and Przeworski (1996). 

Because of this environment, governance in the public sector is distinctly different from 

the corporate governance and assumes different forms. However, all democratic governance 

requires, at least: a) separation of powers (legislative, executive and judiciary) and b) checks and 

balances. The system of "checks and balances" is the basis of the governance systems. 
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In this sense, accounting is a “check and balances” tool. Assurance of financial integrity in 

government prevents and detects corruption. Otherwise, corruptions, deviation and inability to 

perform basic government function are evidence of governance failure. Accounting in 

government contributes to openness, transparency1, accountability and power redistribution. 

Financial reports are ways to provide the proper information transfer from the agents to the 

principals.  

In accordance to positive accounting theory the main objective of the financial reporting is 

to support shareholders and stakeholders in their financial decisions (Hendriksen, 1992). In 

government, the main objective of a financial reporting is to support stakeholders in their 

decisions but in this case not only financial decisions: 

“The objectives of financial reporting by public sector entities are to provide 
information about the reporting entity useful to users for: accountability purposes; and, 
making resource allocation, political and social decisions” (IFAC, 2008).  

In fact, financial reporting in government is an expression that includes a set of a) strictly 

financial information, and b) government’s results and performance (effectiveness, outcomes, 

costs) and fiscal performance. Financial reports have economic consequences and social value: 

Financial reporting has a number of potential economic consequences, including 
the effects on the following: (1) the distribution of wealth among individuals, (2) the 
aggregate level of risk and allocation of risk among individuals, (3) the aggregate 
consumption and production (for example, effects on the rate of capital formation), (4) 
the allocation of resources among firms, (5) the use of resources devoted to the 
production, certification, dissemination, processing, analysis, and interpretation of 
financial information, (6) the use of resources in the development, compliance, 
enforcement, and litigation of regulations, and (7) the use of resources in the private 
sector search for information. (…) Because these consequences may affect the various 
constituencies differently, the selection of a financial reporting system is a social choice  

Debates over the ‘best’ financial accounting standard not only emphasize 
traditional “technical” issues, such as which method produces the ‘best’ matching of cost 
and revenues, but also focus on the economic consequences. 

Considerable controversy exists over which economic consequences and 
constituencies should be considered by the financial reporting policy makers. To address 
such issues requires a framework that recognizes the role of information in a multiperson 
setting and the rationale for regulation as an institutional solution to resolving social 
choice questions (Beaver, 1998). 

Regarding the stakeholders, there is a relative consensus among the theory (Beaver, 1998; 

Hendriksen, 1992) that the main constituencies of the business financial reporting are: a) 

investors, b) information intermediaries (financial analysts, bond rating agencies, stock rating 

agencies, investment advisory services, and brokerage firms), c) regulators; and d) management. 

So, the majority of financial reports’ users are external to the organization/company, although 

                                                 
1 Transparency sometimes is a vague concept and is submitted to a trade-off between accessibility to information 
and full disclosure. In practice, extent of transparency is the outcome of balancing outsider`s right to know and 
government`s authority to withhold information (Chan, 2008). 
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some internal managers could be considered as an exception. Meeting all the demands of all 

these constituents would increase too much the cost of production of information (Hendriksen, 

1992). The solution adopted in such circumstances, is to focus on the common needs of 

information users:  

The emphasis in financial accounting on general-purpose information is based on 
the presumption that a significant number of users need similar information. General-
purpose information is not intended to satisfy specialized needs of individuals users 
(AICPA’s APB Statement no. 4) 

As in the private sector, in a broad view, primary users of financial information in the 

public sector are divided in two types: a) external users, mainly investors and creditors and b) 

internal users like legislative overseers, policy makers, and managers. The Government 

Accounting Standards Board (GASB) includes the citizens who are interested in the financial 

statements for the purpose of evaluating the financial condition and the likelihood of higher 

taxes or service charges, for example. In the public sector, however, the accountability relations 

between agents and principals inside the government (internal users) are more tangible and 

visible compared to firms. In addition, there is one “Chief Executive Officer” (CEO) in 

government who is in effect everyone’s boss. 

So, the existence of different users with various interests involves presenting different 

information based on different standards. However, in the private sector, despite the existence of 

a diffusion of interests among users, the information required and disclosed, in most cases, deals 

with matters of a financial nature and influenced by the profit motive. It is not the case of the 

public sector. Different points of view imply different methods of reporting. Some of the choices 

that have to be faced by the constituencies are related, for instance, to cash versus accrual basis 

to record information and to present reports or statistical versus accounting based debt reporting 

and other fiscal variables. These will be discussed below. 

This unique government’s characteristics has accounting consequences like: a) difficulty 

of matching revenues with expenses, b) difficulty of recognizing tax and transfers revenues on 

the basis of services rendered, c) multiple acceptable methods for depreciation and inventory, 

with huge impacts on numbers, d) difficulty of measuring equity as a performance criteria 

(Chan, 2008c). Similar to the private sector, meeting all these demands would increase too much 

the cost of production of information. The solution adopted in such circumstances is to focus on 

the common needs of information users and to reach equilibrium of interests between the 

stakeholders. These environmental differences lead one to consider that you cannot simply 

transfer the concepts already established in business reporting to government reporting: 
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“Due to the differences in institutional environment, one has to be careful in 
transferring the substantive propositions and research methods discussed earlier to the 
public sector. (Chan, 1982)” 

This conflict between different users with various interests tends to generate different 

reporting models based on different standards. This characteristic will influence the type and the 

choices of accounting and the financial reporting presentation models. 

2.2. The Government Financial Reporting Models  

As mentioned, in the private sector, despite of the existence of some diffusion of interests 

among users, the stakeholders has, in general, good knowledge in finance and the information 

required and disclosed is most homogeneous compared to that provided by the governments. 

Private sector stakeholder’s have, in general, good knowledge in finance. It is not so in the 

public sector case. The government financial information is influenced by heterogeneous points 

of view which imply different content, objectives and methods of reporting. Politicians and 

senior government officials, for instance, typically are not accountants. Consequently, the 

business accountant’s view is not necessarily shared and may not sound convincing to many 

government officials (economists, political scientists, and lawyers) who tend to hold a different 

view (Chan, 2008a). 

Although in government there is less distinction between internal and external users 

(Granof & Wardlow, 2003), there are, at least, three different points of view in terms of financial 

reporting in the public sector: a) the public budget paradigm, especially for internal users (which 

includes legislative bodies and managers); b) the national accounts statistical theory for 

disclosure the public debt amount and fiscal performance, for external users; c) the government 

financial reporting based in business reporting, as the International Public Sector Accounting 

Standards (IPSAS), for external users. They derived from important stakeholder informational 

interest. So, there are different concepts, standards, theoretical foundations, professions, training, 

institutional structures for setting rules, and methods due to differences in the purposes of the 

public budgets between business accounting and national accounts.  

The main difference is on the cash versus accrual basis method for accounting records. 

Cash basis differ from accrual basis in the timing of when transactions, including sales and 

purchases, are recorded in accounts. Under the cash method, income is not counted until cash is 

actually received, and expenses are not counted until actually paid. Cash basis accounting is 

easiest to do and it is objective, with few choices to make (Tiron-Tudor & Mutiu, 2011). On the 

other side, accrual accounting measures current income more accurately than the cash method. 

This method makes easier to predict future income and financial position and possibilities 
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recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities. Nevertheless, accrual accounting is 

difficult to understand. Confusion exists because net income does not equal the period's change 

in cash. The cash balance of a company with high income may even decrease during the year 

(Tiron-Tudor & Mutiu, 2011). 

As mentioned before, different users with various interests tend to generate different 

reporting models based on different standards. Internal and external users have their own models 

preferences. 

2.2.1. The Internal Users Models: Budget Specialist  

Because of the mentioned public sector environment, the role and the importance of the 

public budget should be taken into account by the government financial reporting and 

accounting: 

The present legal basis of the public sector financial management system was the 
result of the first budgetary and accounting reform following the end of World War II. In 
the wake of Keynesian economics and a strong belief in the effectiveness of fiscal policy 
to ensure the nation’s economic development, adapting the budgetary system to the needs 
of macro-economic fiscal control was the overriding objective of the legislation (Lüder, 
2003). 

One special user of financial reporting in the public sector is the budget specialist. Since 

budgeting is the financial management function most related to accounting, the perspective of 

the public budget specialist is sometimes conflicting with the accountant as it can be seen in the 

table 2. 

Table 2. Contrasting Views of Two Financial Specialists 

Dimensions of 
comparison 

Accountant Budget specialist 

Task Financial measurement & reporting Resource allocation 

Time orientation 
The past but cognizant with the present 

and future 
The future but constrained by the past 

and present 

Conceptual model Assets – liabilities = net assets 
Revenues – expenditures = deficit or 

surplus 

Financial position Assets – liabilities = net assets 
Cash, debt (bonds/notes), contractual 

obligations 

Financial performance 
Revenue, expenses, “accrual” 

deficit/surplus 

Cash receipt of revenues, cash outlay 
and charges to appropriations, cash 

deficit/surplus 
Measurement method Full accrual basis Budgetary basis 

Primary financial 
documents 

Statements of financial position, 
performance, cash flow 

Budget execution 

Primary users of financial 
information 

External users: investors and creditors 
Internal users: legislative overseers, 

policy makers, and managers 
Coverage of financial 

documents 
Whole government Parts of government 

Source: based on Chan (2008a). 
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Accountants and budget specialists have different but complementary points of view. 

While the budget is inherently speculative, the financial statements are necessarily tardy. There 

are also differences in purpose (control versus fair presentation), emphasis (flow versus stocks 

and flows), time horizon (annual versus long-term) and measurement (cash and obligational 

versus accrual), (Chan, 2008b). However, for many years, the relationship between the 

accounting and the budget was unquestioned. But the preponderance of the budget on 

accounting criteria varied by country as shown in the table 3. 

Table 3. Relationship Accounting-Budget 

 Model A Model B 

Power Relationship Accounting subordinated to budgeting. 
Accounting at par with or influential on 

budgeting. 
Accountability Administrative and legislature Government to public 

Major Adherents Traditional Continental Europe Anglo-American 

Source: based on Chan (2008b) and Jones (2007). 

The public budget focus is on revenues and expenses in a cash basis2 (flows). Budget 

deficit or surplus - the result of comparing revenues and expenditures - is probably the most 

important indicator about government’s fiscal performance (Chan, 2008a). The preponderance 

of the public budget on government accounting leads to the use of cash basis accounting as the 

way of measurement for these flows. These occurs primarily because projecting cash receipts 

and outlays is necessary for determining the need for deficit financing, and monitoring 

commitments is critical for budgetary control. Budget specialist is mainly an internal user. Some 

authors (Tiron-Tudor & Mutiu, 2011) state that in the public sector while internal users tend to 

prefer information based in cash accounting, external users prefer information based on accrual 

accounting as shown in the table 4.  

Table 4. Users and Accounting Basis Preferences 

User Method Why 
Internal Cash Budget results (which is substantially revenues and expenditures) 
External Accrual Comprehensive record of assets and liabilities which permits forecasting and 

tendencies analyses

Source: prepared by the author. 

It seems that internal users may not still realize the advantages of the accrual basis that is 

better suited for planning, financial management, decision making (Christiaens & Reyniers, 

2009) and especially for measurement of costs of service provided. Information derived from 

cost accounting based in a comprehensive record system and in a reliable accounting data are 

important because it could be used to measure government performance, quality and quantity of 

output (Jones, 2007). However, this conclusion is controversial. If the users fail to realize the 

                                                 
2 There are some important studies advocating the accrual basis for budget too (Diamond, 2002). 
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benefits of accrual information, do they really exist? Or will the users really interested in good 

governance? 

Accrual basis in the public sector is based on claims: government’s claim on others’ 

resources, government’s obligation to meet others’ claims (Chan, 2008). A prerequisite of 

accrual accounting systems is a comprehensive record of assets owned (which usually does not 

exist in extant accounting systems) and of liabilities incurred (which probably does exist, except 

that contingent liabilities which are usually not recorded). Accrual of revenue and expense is tied 

to recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities (Chan, 2008c). Otherwise, the nature of 

the assets and the liabilities in the public sector is quite different from the private sector. In many 

cases, the main asset of the public sector - the power of taxation - is not recorded. In addition, 

pensions and contingent liabilities are also not usually recorder. 

So, accrual basis is also preferable in the public sector but the budget execution is a 

fundamental part of financial performance. Timely interim reports covering the units or 

programs, for instance, are essential. The chose basis must consider the stakeholder’s need and 

internal user’s preference matters. 

2.2.2. The External Users Models: Investors and Rating Agencies 

2.2.2.1. The National Accounts 

So, while budget is generally presented in a cash basis, national accounts reporting are 

presented in a statistical basis. The national accounts is not accounting per se. It is a statistical 

method to record macroeconomic information. The Government Financial Statistics Manual 

(GFSM) of 1993 issued by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) is the reference framework 

for presenting public debt information and evaluating fiscal performance. Although it advocates 

the use of accrual basis for their reporting, it presents some important differences regarding the 

methodological concepts:  

‘National accounting’ is a harmonised and standardised system, deriving its 
theoretical framework from economics and being carried out by statisticians; the resultant 
statistics are however often derived from accounting data. The global system is called the 
System of National Accounts and is promulgated by all of the major international bodies 
concerned. 

National accounting is very distinctly different from accounting (in English, 
obviously confusingly so), even though both systems are in part addressing the same 
economic activities of government. However, the phenomena that national accounting 
records, measures and reports on are in essence the same as those of accounting; both use 
money for their measurements and are accrual-based; national accounting depends, in 
part, on accounting data; and national accounting partially defines itself in terms of its 
points of departure from business accounting. These commonalities heighten the contrast 
between the two different kinds of ‘accounting’. (Jones, 2007) 
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Other similar financial reporting requirements in international treaties, agreements and 

contracts include Government Section of the United Nations (UN) and European System of 

National Accounts (SNA), International Monetary Fund (IMF) Fiscal Transparency Code, and 

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) Budget Transparency. 

As mentioned, despite of the accrual basis (a specific accrual basis) advocated by GFSM 

for presenting financial information, most countries in the world use cash basis for this financial 

reporting. These means that not all the government transactions are reported but only that one 

with is registered in the financial system. It is explained in part because the previous GFSM 

version of 19863 required this method, in part because of the prevailing budget viewpoint. 

However, currently there are some attempts to narrow the differences between government and 

business reporting and to harmonize some concepts between financial reporting for fiscal 

performance and debt analyses and for disclosure the financial position.  

The International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), developed by IFAC, is an 

initiative created in order to decrease the difference between these models and to consolidate the 

view of investors (external users) as the main user of financial reporting in the public sector. The 

same statistical international bodies – the IMF, the World Bank, the European Bank and OECD 

– are sponsoring and accepting the IFAC and its full-accrual basis view.  

2.2.2.2. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) 

The International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) set by the International 

Federation of Accountants (IFAC) is part of a demand for government financial accountability 

and transparency required by the international finance institutions. 

The IFAC is a professional organization which intends to be a representative organization 

of the international nature of different countries with different social, political, economic and 

legal context (Jones, 2007). The IFAC developed the IPSAS and although it has no power to 

require compliance with it, has been encouraging (but not compelling) governments and other 

public sector entities to adopt the accrual basis of accounting for their general-purpose financial 

statements.  

IPSAS has become, de facto, the global government accounting standards by virtue of 

endorsement of powerful institutions4 who are interested in reducing the cost of enforcing 

                                                 
3 Only in 1993, for instance, the IMF System of National Accounts moved to accrual basis. 
4 Observers who provide(d) financial support: International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank, United Nations 
Development Program, Asian Development Bank. Observers who do not provide financial support: International 
Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI), Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development 
(OECD), International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), European Commission (Chan, 2008c). 
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overlapping accountability requirements. It is not set by government officials in their official 

capacity although current and former officials participate. IPSAS is “international” in the sense 

that persons from several nations participate in the process, but it is not the result of official 

(governmental) agreements (Chan, 2008c). 

The apparent IFAC strategy regarding IPSAS considers: a) appealing to ideals like public 

interest, accountability, and transparency; b) claiming for professional expertise of accountants 

and auditors; c) conceding that is has an advisory role; d) making use of the financial leverage of 

international official institutions; and e) drawing analogy with International Accounting and 

Financial Reporting Standards (IAS) that were originally written for businesses, with some 

exceptions only when governments differed from business (Chan, 2008c). 

In order to avoid conflicts with legal authorities that regulate government accounting by 

laws, IFAC limits its purview to financial reporting, particularly general-purpose external 

financial reporting in the full-accrual basis5. It does not prescribe changes in the public budget6 

or in the financial public administration. It accepts the national accounts and the budget views in 

its standards7. IPSAS represents the globalization of model “B” previously referred (see the table 

3). 

Since IPSAS are rules about financial reporting, implicit in them is the requirement to 

have accounting systems that are capable of producing reliable accrual-based financial 

statements (Jones, 2007). So, the two most important aspects of IPSAS are: a) business accrual 

accounting is proposed to replace cash accounting commonly used by government; and b) 

whole-of-government (consolidated) financial statements at year-end to replace detailed budget 

execution reports (Chan, 2008c).  

The balance between costs and benefits of adopting IPSAS is still subject of substantial 

debates both for academics and practitioners. Advanced British Commonwealth (ABC) countries 

have adopted IPSAS. However, although recognizing that is desirable to have comparability and 

uniformity in accounting for similar transactions in similar ways, some critics believe that 

governments more susceptible to political and economic leverage and governments that borrow 

or rely on foreign aid are more likely to adopt IPSAS (Chan, 2008c). Some other criticisms 

                                                 
5 This conflict avoidance strategy is used also by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) as 
well as the Governmental Accounting Standards Board both in the United States (GASB) (Chan, 2008a). 
6 The ‘budgetary accounting’ of much of continental Europe is not yet addressed by the financial reporting 
standards of the IPSASB. Also because of the provenance of the IPSAS, they do not address accrual budgeting 
(Jones, 2007). 
7 IPSAS 22 accepts reports with the national accounts view and IPSAS 24 accepts reporting with the budget view. 
In this case, standard deals only with disclosure and assumes availability of budget information. Disclosure 
includes: a) original and final budget (projected revenues and appropriations), b) actual amounts on the budgetary 
basis, c) explanation of variances, d) reconciliation of accrual and budgetary bases (Chan, 2008c). 
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about IPSAS includes a) its full accrual prescription, which is not suitable for government 

because of indivisibility of public goods and because of tax financing way; b) some unrealistic 

assumptions, like the presumable existence of a robust system of internal control to ensure 

reliability of financial data; and b) the lack of consensus by external user groups about the 

financial reporting content, because it consists in one set of general-purpose financial statements 

for diverse stakeholders groups (Chan, 2008c).  

Otherwise, the same author (Chan, 2008c) believes that the cash basis, in effect, is an 

escape clause for many developing countries. Because of this, in his personal view, accrual must 

be in principle applied for all nations, but the implementation must be in stages gradually 

advancing from a mild to a moderate degree.  

So, it does not mean a complete IPSAS application but an accrual accounting application. 

Complete IPSAS application is controversial because of the cost and the inherent difficulties in 

recognition and measurement of some asset, for instance, like the common goods (roads, forests, 

etc). However, accrual accounting increases the integrity of financial reports. So, standards with 

this disposition associated to other mechanisms are important to the governance frameworks. 

2.3. The Government Financial Reporting Credibility, Integrity and Reliability 

Governments are responsible for their accounting. Accounting by the government is 

necessarily done by the government itself (autonomy), but the government accounting and 

reporting is not credible if the government itself decides all the rules. When a government 

distributes financial information to the public: a) the government is assumed to have the 

incentive of presenting (only) favorable information, b) the government’s credibility can be 

questioned, and c) the information is subject to externally scrutiny (Chan, 2008b). 

Financial reports are part of every transparency system and are provided by the accounting 

systems that have to be capable of producing reliable financial statements. In order to provide 

reliability on the financial reports, some ex-ante and ex-post mechanisms must be designed to 

increase integrity to financial reports, improve openness and promote accountability. Ex-ante 

financial reporting credibility could be reached by a set of appropriate accounting standards. Ex-

post financial reporting credibility could be reached by a third-party assurance.  

Standards are used to determine the objectives, define users and establish the qualitative 

characteristics of the financial reports. The audit activity reduces the inherent risks in principal-

agent relationship (moral hazard, distance, complexity) by complying with the standards and by 

expressing an opinion. Figure 2 presents these mechanisms. 
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Figure 2. Ex-Ante and Ex-Post Financial Reporting Credibility Frameworks 

Ex-ante mechanism    Ex-post mechanism 
A set of appropriate accounting 

standards 
 

Financial Reports 

 
A third-party assurance 

    
Important questions   Important questions 

From whom?   From whom? 
What content? How procedure? 

Source: prepared by the author. 

Thus, standards and auditing are mechanisms of “checks and balances” of the financial 

reporting. It is a simple model. It cannot provide wide generalizations but it permits to get some 

insight about a country governance frameworks regarding financial reporting system. Otherwise, 

good results in this analysis are a good indicative of the existence of good governance but it is 

not sufficient to conclude on the whole governance system. It is a necessary but is not a 

sufficient condition. Bad results in this analysis are a strong evidence of moral hazard incentives 

in the government information presentation. 

2.3.1. Standards as Ex-Ante Mechanisms 

Accounting rules can be set by both the same government or by a professional’s body. 

Government rules include norms, laws and regulations. Professional’s bodies primarily set 

“Principles”, as Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, “Practices”, as Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice, and “Standards”, as the IPSAS. 

The government’s legal basis of authority is divided between the executive function and 

the legislative oversight. The professional body’s basis of authority is its technical expertise. The 

inevitable dual trade-off proposed by Chan (2008c) is a) which (should) carry more weight, legal 

authority or technical competence? Or b) should the government, a player, be exempted from set 

the rules of the game? In order to conclude how appropriate are the accounting standards setting 

to provide credibility to financial reporting at least two different but complimentary aspects must 

be analyzed: a) who is the body that is going to be set the standards for the financial reports, and 

b) what is the standards’ content? 

There is no consensual international document regarding the use of appropriate accounting 

standards. Although there is no conclusion about this issue, the standards should be set by one of 

the following: a) the government with inputs from an advisory board; b) a quasi-independent 

body; or c) a body completely independent from government (Chan, 2008b). This characteristic 

is frequently highlighted because “independence” is supposed to maintain the trust and 

confidence in financial reporting. In the international context, IFAC intends to be the 
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independent setting-body and IPSAS intends to be the standards content. IFAC’s Study 13 

prescribes that: 

[Use of Appropriate Accounting Standards] 

Governing bodies of public sector entities need to ensure that the financial 
statements contained in the annual report are prepared in accordance with IPSASs, or 
another authoritative and recognized set of accounting standards, and applicable 
legislation. 

.310 Accounting standards are a prerequisite to financial accountability because 
compliance with accounting standards promotes the reliability, consistency and 
transparency of financial information. (IFAC, 2001) 

In order to comprehend the body’s status quo, it is necessary to understand the nation’s 

legal system (common law versus civil law), the accounting-setting body’s basis of authority, its 

enforcement power (setting standards only to central governments or to the nation), and the level 

of stakeholders’ influence or, conversely, its isolation. In other words is to consider the political, 

economic and government systems. Regarding the legal system, the basic difference between 

civil law and common law and their impacts on business accounting is presented following:  

Some countries have a legal system which relies upon a limited amount of statute 
law, which is then interpreted by courts, which build up large amounts of case law to 
supplement the statutes. Such a ‘common law’ system was formed in England primarily 
by post-Conquest judges acting on the king’s behalf (…). It is less abstract than codified 
law; a common law rule seeks to provide an answer to a specific case rather than to 
formulate a general rule for the future (…). This naturally influences company law, 
which traditionally does not prescribe a large number of detailed, all-embracing rules to 
cover the behavior of companies and how they should publish their financial statements. 
To a large extent (at least up until the 1981 UK Companies Act), accounting within such 
a context is not dependent upon law. 

Other countries have a system of law which is based on the Roman jus civile as 
compiled by Justinian in the sixth century and develop by European universities from the 
twelfth century. Here rules are linked to ideas of justice and morality; they become 
doctrine (…). This difference has the important effect that company law or commercial 
codes need to establish rules in detail for accounting and financial reporting. For 
example, in Germany, company accounting is to a large extent a branch of company law. 
Both the nature of regulation and the type of detailed rules to be found in a country are 
affected (Nobes & Parker, 1995). 

Although it is not possible in this research paper to make a definitive affirmation about 

these prescriptions regarding the public sector, it is important to consider what should be the 

situation in governments. Without any exploratory research, in government accounting, civil 

law’s legal systems probably face more detailed rules and common law’s legal systems face 

probably less detailed rules. These characteristics could give a trace of how is the body 

empowerment. Maybe, there is an inverse relationship between the legal system and the body’s 

empowerment. In common law’s legal system less detailed accounting law, the body tends to be 

more empowered to set the accounting standards as a whole. In civil law’s legal system more 
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detailed accounting law, the body tends to be less empowered to set the accounting standards 

because it is constrained by the law general prescriptions. Table 5 presents these relationships. 

Table 5. Relationship between Legal Systems and Body Empowerment 
Extremes legal systems Law tends to be Body empowerment tends to be 

Civil law More detailed 
Less empowered (but depends on the law content and the law 

delegation) 

Common law Less detailed 
More empowered (because law permits a large abroad of 

regulation) 

Source: prepared by the author. 

With respect to the body’s status quo, one way of having appropriate accounting standards 

is through to balance professionalism, independence and political control in the accounting-

setting body. To do so would minimize the isolation of the accounting-setting body. 

Representative stakeholders would participate in a composition that guarantees professional 

experience, expertise and government political interests. The independence is guaranteed by the 

equilibrium of stakeholder’s information need and technical cohesion. This is a case of the 

government body with inputs from an advisory board or a quasi-independent body. Similar 

prescription is presented in the document IFAC’s Study 13 which prescribes concerning body 

that is not completely independent from government: 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Balance of Power and Authority 

.161 There needs to be a clearly defined division of responsibilities at the head of 
public sector entities to ensure a balance of power and authority. 

.162 One way of achieving such a balance is for the governing body to include a 
balance of executive and nonexecutive members (including independent non-executives), 
so that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the governing body’s 
decision-making. The governing body needs to include nonexecutive members of 
sufficient caliber and number for their views to carry significant weight in the governing 
body’s decisions. (IFAC, 2001) 

It means a kind of governance, regarding the checks and balances participation, inside the 

accounting-setting body. Table 6 presents levels of body-setting composition from the most 

technical and isolated to the most balanced.  

Table 6. Body-Setting Composition 
Stakeholders Type of Accountability 

Government 
Officials 

Accounting Office Managerial accountability 
Accounting Office + Budget Office Managerial accountability 

Accounting Office + Budget Office + 
Treasury Office

Managerial accountability 

Accounting Office + Budget Office + 
Treasury Office + Auditor Office (1) 

Managerial accountability + Executive accountability (1) 

Professionals 
All previews government officials + 

Certified Accountants Body 
Managerial accountability + Executive accountability + 

Democratic accountability 

Civil Society Civil Society Representatives (2) 
Managerial accountability + Executive accountability + 

Democratic accountability 
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Source: prepared by the author. Notes: (1) In the case of the auditor is part of the legislative oversight; (2) some 
potential representatives include certain types of associations, foundations and other interested in an open and 
accountable government. 

Nevertheless, an independent body is not enough to ensure good financial reporting 

standards. To analyze the standards content is primarily to check if the standards permit a 

comprehensive, transparent and fair presentation of all the government transactions in the 

financial reports. Regarding the standards content, accrual basis of accounting is preferable to 

cash basis because it consider a) a broader range of resources and b) long-term consequences. 

However, the relation between cash basis and accrual basis is one versus many. Cash and 

accrual, sometimes, are viewed as polar opposites (“black and white”), while accrual is really a 

matter of degree (Chan, 2008c) as shown in the table 7. 

Table 7. Degrees of Accrual 
Accrual Includes 

Mild accruals Short-term financial assets and short-term liabilities. 
Moderate accruals Add long-term financial assets and long-term liabilities. 

Strong accruals Add capital assets and contingent liabilities. 
“Radical” accruals Add legislated benefits.

Source: based on Chan (2008c). 

Accounting rules is susceptible to manipulation to boost earnings. So, transition to accrual 

accounting requires some important steps: a) a beginning balance sheet with a chart of asset and 

liability accounts; b) a double-entry recording system; c) the ability to interpret financial 

consequences of transactions and events in terms of effects on financial position. 

2.3.2. Auditing as Ex-Post Mechanism 

The roles of accounting and auditing are closely related. Government audits are critical to 

the regulatory system as they detect non-compliance with standards and violations of norms, 

thereby contributing significantly to enforcing the laws. Although most of the concepts adopted 

in government audits also apply to the private sector, their use within government involves some 

unique aspects.  

Two major organizations issue standards applied for the public sector audits: a) the 

International Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI); and b) the Institute of 

Internal Auditors (the IIA). These organizations set standards for respectively the 

independent/external auditing services and for the internal auditing services. 

INTOSAI is an autonomous, independent and non-political organization. It is a non-

governmental organization with special consultative status with the Economic and Social 

Council (ECOSOC) of the United Nations. The INTOSAI operates as an umbrella organization 
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for the external government audit community (INTOSAI’s website; Access in November, 1st, 

2011).  

In the INTOSAI’s document 'The Lima Declaration of Guidelines on Auditing Precepts', it 

describes what distinguishes internal and external auditing services in the public sector. Internal 

audits are conducted by a department within a government agency that is subordinate to its 

highest authority. The external audit activity is conducted by a specialist organization outside the 

government agency, generally in the legislative branch, in order to issue an opinion about what 

happens in the public policies and programs. This organization is internationally known as a 

Supreme Audit Institution (SAI). They are the independent/external audit institution of 

governments. Regarding the external audit, IFAC’s Study 13 prescribes that: 

[External Audit] 

Governing bodies of public sector entities need to ensure that an objective and 
professional relationship is maintained with the external auditors. (IFAC, 2001) 

The main difference between external audits in the public and private sectors is that in the 

public sector the SAI is not limited to performing financial audits. The scope of their 

engagements is broader than this and include, for instance, performance (effectiveness and 

efficiency) audit. 

So, in order to conclude how appropriate is the audit framework to provide credibility to 

financial reporting at least two different but complementary aspects must be analyzed: a) who is 

the third-party that is going to be assure the credibility and integrity of financial reports, and b) 

how are they going to do this? 

The third-party must be independent of the relationship between agents and principals. 

Regarding the public sector, the INTOSAI’s Lima Declaration explains the relationship between 

the audit institutions and each country’s parliament, government and managers. It prescribes that 

the SAI must be independent and the SAI’s autonomy must be ensured in each country’s 

Constitution. Moreover, the INTOSAI’s Code of Ethics states: 

14. Independence from the audited entity and other outside interest groups is 
indispensable for auditors. This implies that auditors should behave in a way that 
increases, or in no way diminishes, their independence. (Intosai, 1977) 

Once independent, the SAI must use the appropriate techniques to assure the integrity of 

the financial reporting. The INTOSAI’s Code of Ethics states: 

18. There is a need for objectivity and impartiality in all work conducted by 
auditors, particularly in their reports, which should be accurate and objective. 
Conclusions in opinions and reports should, therefore, be based exclusively on evidence 
obtained and assembled in accordance with the SAI’s auditing standards. (Intosai, 1977) 

General auditing standards describe the qualifications that auditors and their institutions 

need to perform their work and present their conclusions in an efficient manner. The 



25 

International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI) are issued by INTOSAI. ISSAI 

1000-2999 deals with auditing standards for financial statements. Standards in auditing have 

been developed to help assure clients (in the public sector clients may include legislative bodies, 

executive offices, and the public itself) that the auditors are competent, independent, and 

professional, i.e., to provide credibility. The audit conducted in accordance with generally 

accepted government auditing standards: (a) provides uniform guidance to auditors; (b) builds 

credibility and confidence in the auditing profession; (c) informs customers (the public, public 

officials, management, stockholders, etc) about the role of auditing, and (d) establishes a basis 

for conducting internal and external reviews of quality audits. 

Auditors normally carry out the following types of audit tests to determine whether 

financial statements are fairly stated: (i) procedures to obtain an understanding of the entities’ 

internal control; (ii) tests of controls; and (iii) substantive tests like a) substantive tests of 

transactions, b) analytical procedures, and c) tests of details of balances. Audit process is 

presented in a simplified structure in figure 3.  

Figure 3. Audit Process in Overview 

Planning  Execution 
 

Communication 
 Quality 

Assurance 
↓  ↓  ↓  ↓ 

Tests of control 
(internal control 

evaluation + risks) 
 

Substantive tests 
(transactions + analytical 
procedures + details of 

balances) 

 
Opinion about integrity and 
reliability of the financial 

statements and reports 
 

Appropriate 
standards + 

monitoring + 
peer review 

Source: prepared by author based in the IFAC’s International Standards of Auditing (ISA) and in the Intosai’s 
International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI). 

Auditors may test internal control systems in order to evaluate risks and determine the 

extensions of their works. Then they apply substantive tests in order to determine an acceptable 

level of differences from expectations and then investigate any differences in excess of that 

amount as well as tracing and vouching operations.  

Figure 4. Overview of Account Processes and Audit Testing 

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT 
↓  ↓ ↓ 

INPUT  PROCESS OUTPUT 
Transactions, Adjustments and 

Estimates 
 Processes + Controls  

Financial Statements, Line items 
and Disclosure 

  ↑  ↑ 

  
Audit Testing of Processes and 

Controls
 

Substantive Test of Account 
Balance 

Source: Rittenberg at all (2010). 

An opinion about integrity and reliability of the financial statements and reports is 

expected after the field work audit stage. The audit quality is assure by a) use of appropriate 
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standards, b) monitoring and c) peer review. An overview of accounting processes and audit 

testing regarding financial statements and accounting systems is presented in the figure 4. 

The summarizing prescriptions are presented in the table 8. 

Table 8. Ex-Ante and Ex-Post Financial Reporting Credibility Frameworks Dissected 
 Standards Setting Auditing 

Body 

According to the literature standards should be set by: a) the 
government with inputs from an advisory board; or b) a quasi-
independent body; or c) a body completely independent from 
government. 
Accordingly to IFAC’s Study 13, the body must balance the 
power and the authority. 

According to the INTOSAI 
Lima’s Declaration, the SAI 
must be independent (under its 
prescriptions and conditions). 

Content/ 
Procedure 

According to the literature, standards must set the use of 
accrual accounting. 

According to the INTOSAI 
Code of Ethics, auditors must 
use financial audit procedures. 

Source: prepared by the author. 
In the next section, these prescriptions will be applied to Brazil and to the United States 

government financial reporting. 

3. A POSITIVE COMPARISON OF THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL 

REPORTING GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORKS BETWEEN BRAZIL AND THE 

UNITED STATES 

As mentioned, in order to increase the credibility of government financial reports, they are 

supposed (a) to be prepared using accounting standards and (b) to be submitted to 

independent/external audits. Ex-ante financial reporting credibility could be reached by a set of 

appropriate accounting standards. Ex-post financial reporting credibility could be reached by a 

third-party assurance.  

The purpose of this section is to present and analyze some characteristics of the 

government financial reporting frameworks regarding to accounting standards and auditing 

procedures in Brazil and in the United States. The ex-ante and ex-post Financial Reporting 

Credibility Frameworks proposed in the previous section is the based for the analysis. 

In order to enrich the analysis, first of all, a comparison of the Federal Government 

Financial environment between both countries will be presented. Then, the ex-ante and ex-post 

financial reporting credibility frameworks will be applied. A summary conclusion will be 

presented in the final of this section as well as the similarities and dissimilarities between both 

countries governance frameworks regarding financial government reporting. 

3.1. Federal Government Financial Environment and Financial Reporting 

In order to understand the main differences between the governance models in Brazil and 

in the United States is important to stress certain characteristics, especially: a) legal system, b) 
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public administration structure; c) main aspects of government financial administration and d) 

main financial reports. 

3.1.1. Brazil 

In terms of the legal system, Brazil is based on civil law (or public law) derived from 

European legal codes that distinguish between public and private governance, as opposed to the 

United States common law, based on Anglo-Saxon systems. 

Regarding the public administration structure, Brazil is a federalist republic composed of 

autonomous/independent levels – Federal government, the states (26), a Federal District and 

municipalities (around 5500). For each one, the Constitution establishes a set of legislative rights 

and responsibilities related to expenditures and revenues, which is called fiscal federalism. Also, 

each has the right to govern, legislate, organize and administer according to its prerogatives. 

Under the accounting point of view, each member of the Federation is a specific 

accounting entity and each has its separate accounts from the other. Inside each member, there is 

a legislative, a judicial8 and an executive branch. Each one has its set of departments and 

agencies. In 2010, Federal government has around 55 departments, 204 agencies and 46 

government foundations. Because of the Brazilian development model, there is also a 

considerable quantity of state-owned enterprises, which was around 48 in 2010 (TCU’s Report 

and Previous Opinion on the Accounts of the Government of the Republic, 2010). Some of these 

companies, however, have no financial or economic independence. In fact, they are almost 

government agencies. They are called “dependent” state-owned enterprises. Because of Fiscal 

Responsibility Act (LRF), these companies record their operations according to models of 

business and government accounts at the same time. 

In terms of financial administration, the aspect that most characterizes the Federal model 

of management is the centralization of the financial administration. It could be seen primarily in 

three features: a) the budgetary centralization; b) the centralization of cash resources 

management; and c) the centralization of accounting management.  

Regarding the budgetary centralization, the Constitution of 1988 delegated to the federal 

government the right to establish general rules of public finance (budget, accounting, and public 

debt). Accordingly to this regulation, the Annual Budget Act must include all the revenues to be 

collected and all the expenses to be spent for all Federal agencies. This is called “principle of 

unity”. In addition, all federal revenues and expenditures must pass through the “single account” 

at the Central Bank, which means a centralization of cash resources management. The National 

                                                 
8 There is no judicial branch in municipalities. 
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Treasury Secretariat, a Ministry of Finance’s branch, has centralized the accounting management 

in two main aspects: a) a unique plan of accounts to the Federal government; and b) an 

electronic system to process inputs and issue the financial statements as a main output, which is 

called Siafi. Siafi is a Federal system that interconnects five thousand management units with 

approximately 34,000 users charged with budget execution. It is utilized to obtain the 

information required for elaborating the Federal Government Balance Sheet, as well as for 

generating budget and financial administration execution reports that are included in the 

documents remitted by the President of the Republic to the National Congress, as required by the 

Federal Constitution (STN’s website; access in July, 15th, 2011). Siafi is a system with a high 

degree of safeguards and internal controls. This centralization permits the issuance of a set of 

financial statements periodically (weekly, monthly and annually). 

There are three main sets of financial reports in Federal government: a) the LRF reports; b) 

the management reports; and c) the President’s Accounts. All of them must be submitted to the 

Office of the General Comptroller (CGU) and to the Brazilian Court of Audits (TCU) although 

in a different manner. All of them have financial statements and/or accounting data as a base for 

their preparation. 

Table 9. Brazilian Federal Government Financial Reports 

Report Content

LRF reports 
Budget execution report, public debt report, civil servants compensation reports, loans report 
and other additional fiscal information presented bimonthly and quarterly. 

Management 
reports 

Financial statements and the management report with information about cost and 
effectiveness of public programs and other some complementary information in a micro 
perspective (each department/agency/state-owned enterprise).  

President’s 
Accounts 

Consolidated Financial Statements (BGU) and some complementary information presented 
annually in macro perspective (whole government). 

Source: prepared by the author. 

The Fiscal Responsibility Act (LRF) prescripts that transparency will be assured by the 

publication of these documents, also in the internet. Additionally, this law (Article 50) prescribes 

that financial statements must be reliable, whole and complete. 

Despite the federalism model, there is a preponderance of rules comes from the national 

government (the Executive branch), which issues different rules regarding public finances, 

which are also applied to states and municipalities. This regulatory power includes government 

accounting regulation. 

3.1.2. The United States 

In terms of the legal system, the United States (US) is based on the common law derived 

from Anglo-Saxon systems, which usually has less-detailed laws and more court power. 
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Regarding the public administration structure, the US is a federalist republic composed of 

three autonomous/independent levels: the Federal government, the states (50), and local 

governments, which includes counties, municipalities, townships, school districts, fire 

protection, water supply, and others (around 90,000). For the Federal government and for the 

states, there is an executive, a legislative and a judicial branch. The US Constitution establishes 

a set of legislative rights and responsibilities related to expenditures and revenues (fiscal 

federalism). Also, each has the right to govern, legislate, organize and administer according to 

its prerogatives. 

In terms of financial administration, in the American system, the national government 

cannot dictate the accounting policies of the states and the thousands of local governments. 

However:  

American public budgeting and accounting is profoundly influenced by the federal 
system provided for by the United States Constitution. The federal government has its 
own fiscal laws and institutions. Federal budget rules are mostly codified in statutes and 
administrative regulations. Federal accounting rules are promulgated an advisory board 
sponsored by the principal federal fiscal officers and recognized by the auditing 
profession [note: the Fasab]. Each one of the states has its own fiscal laws and 
institutions, which govern the state government itself and the local governments within 
its jurisdiction. Each state’s budgeting practices are largely determined by its own laws 
and regulations, although a national advisory board has recently issued some voluntary 
guidelines. (Chan, 2000) 

In the past 25 years, each level of government has pursued government accounting reform 

at its own speed and in its own way, with no discernible co-ordination. Otherwise, their 

approaches have converged in several ways (Chan, 2000). 

The aspect that most characterizes the Federal model of management is the 

decentralization of the financial administration. The most recent and important regulation is the 

Chief Financial Officers Act (CFO) of 1990. The CFO Acts requires federal agencies to prepare, 

and submit for audit, financial statements for the entire organization. Following the CFO: 

Soon thereafter, the focus on finance was broadened to management by a series of 
legislation. In 1993, the Government Performance and Results Act [GRPA] required 
agencies to submit strategic plans and performance reports. The 1994 Government 
Management Reform Act [GMRA] required the audit of agency financial statements and 
the preparation and audit of financial statement for the entire U.S. Government. In 1996 
the Federal Financial Management Improvement Act [FFMIA] directed auditors to report 
on whether agencies were following systems requirements, accounting standards and the 
Standard General Ledger. 

These laws cemented a closer relationship between finance and management in 
general. (Chan, 2000) 

The most important report is the “Financial Report of the United States Government”. This 

document provides the President, Congress, and the American people with a comprehensive 

view of the Federal Government’s finances, which includes its financial position and condition, 



30 

its revenues and costs, assets and liabilities, and other obligations and commitments. The Report 

also discusses important financial issues and significant conditions that may affect future 

operations. The Fiscal Year 2010 Financial Report consists of: a) the Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis (MD&A), which provides management’s perspectives and analysis of information 

presented in the Report, such as financial and performance trends; b) the principal financial 

statements and the related footnotes to the financial statements; c) the supplemental and 

stewardship information; and d) the GAO’s Audit Report. 

In addition, the Government has been produced a Citizen’s Guide to provide the American 

taxpayer with a quick reference to the key issues in the Report and an overview of the 

Government's financial position and condition. 

All of these environmental differences have had a profound effect not only on how 

standards are set in the United States, but also on the accounting principles established by U.S. 

standards setters. 

3.2. Government Financial Reporting Standards 

As mentioned in the previous section, in order to conclude how appropriate are the 

accounting standards setting to provide credibility to financial reporting at least two different but 

complimentary aspects must be analyzed: a) what is the body that is going to set the standards 

for the financial reports, and b) what are the standards’ content? There is no consensual 

international document regarding the use of appropriate accounting standards.  

The standard setting body’s independence is frequently highlighted because is supposed 

that governments do not disclosure all relevant and material financial information. Independence 

can be interpreted as the body’s arrangements that prevent the government, especially from the 

executive branch, to have totally control of accounting-setting issues. In order to comprehend the 

body’s status, it is necessary to understand, at least, the body’s basis of authority, its 

enforcement power (only on the central governments or on the nation), and the level of 

stakeholders influence or its insulation.  

Nevertheless, to have an independent body is not enough to ensure good financial 

reporting standards. It is necessary to have an appropriate standard which means standards that 

permits a comprehensive, transparent and fair presentation of all the government transactions in 

the financial reports. Accrual basis is preferable (see Table 8).  

3.2.1. Brazil 

The source of government accounting regulation in Brazil comes from: a) the legislative 

branch, though the law, and b) two different bodies, one of them a quasi-independent body. 
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Table 10. Brazilian Financial Reporting and Accounting Regulation Bodies 

Body  General Content 
Legislative branch  Principles 

The Fiscal Management Council (CGF)*, The National Treasury Secretariat 
(STN) and the Federal Accounting Board (CFC) 

 
Regulations 

Source: produced by the author. Notes: * Not implemented yet. 

Because of the civil law system, laws are important for the analysis of accounting 

standards. The bodies are different regarding its status, their basis of authority and their 

enforcement power. 

As above, the Constitution of 1988 delegated to the federal government the right to 

establish general rules on public finance. The Federal Law nº 4,320, of 19649, and the Fiscal 

Responsibility Act (LRF)10 provide the structural regulation of the government financial 

administration and accounting. This legislation provides the “structural regulation of government 

financial administration" since it lays the foundation for the country’s public finances and 

accounting as shown in the table 11. 

Table 11. Government Financial Reporting and Accounting Laws 

Law Content Status quo 

Federal Law nº 4,320 of 
1964 

Establishes general financial standards 
for budgets and balance sheets. 

Mandatory for federal government, 
states, municipalities and the Federal 

District. 
Complementary Law nº 101 

of 2000 - Fiscal 
Responsibility Act (LRF) 

Presents several rules regarding public 
debt and public financial issues, 

including transparency. 

Mandatory for federal government, 
states, municipalities and the Federal 

District. 

Source: produced by the author.  

The Federal Law nº 4,320 of 1964 is the main government accounting-oriented law but is 

also to a great extent a budget-oriented law. In general, it establishes the following: a) budget, 

public finance, and accounting procedures for public sector entities; b) structural provisions for 

the budget laws; c) rules related to management’s accountability and the publicizing of 

accounting reports. Also, it contains rules for preparing, executing, accounting for and 

publicizing the budgets at each level of government. Under this law, all transactions must be 

recorded, and the latter must be done in a manner that allows the loan positions, amortization 

and interest to be verified at any time. This is sometimes interpreted as a prescription to the 

application of full accrual basis. However, this law contains a contradictory provision about the 

use of the accrual basis: at the same time it determines full register of all transactions, it also 

                                                 
9 This legislation replaces the 1922 Government Accounting Code (Decree no 4,536). 
10 In 2000 the Fiscal Responsibility Act (LRF) established rules to ensure responsible fiscal management. It is 
supported by the Federal Constitution (Article 163) and applies to all levels of government (Article 1). It did not 
replace Federal Law nº 4,320 but changed some aspects, such as the concept consolidated debt. 
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prescribes the revenue’s register only when they are collected (cash basis). The Brazilian 

Supreme Audit Institution (SAI)11, for instance, does not recognize accrual basis for revenues.  

In the same way, LRF establishes that all expenditures must be recorded under the accrual 

basis but it does not prescribe anything about the revenues. In a recent modification, however, 

the Complementary Law No. 131, of 2009, determined the recognition of all assets receivables 

by the Internal Revenue Service12, which can be interpreted as an important step towards the 

implementation of revenue’s accrual in the federal government, first, and the subnational entities 

after. The LRF also establishes that the public sector equity must be reported which is only 

completely possible if is done under accrual basis. 

Because of this, the Senate has under consideration several Bills (No. 175, 229 and 248, all 

of 2009) to replace Law No 4,320. Those have general rules for planning, budgeting, control and 

public accountability. Some Bills prescribes the accrual basis for accounting. 

In another section, LRF prescribes that the Executive branch of the Federal Government 

must promote national consolidation of the accounts of all members of the Federation regarding 

the previous year ending June, 30th. The National Treasury Secretariat (STN) is the unit 

responsible for this consolidation and for the publication of the balance of the National Public 

Sector. To allow the data collection, Data Collection System for States and Municipalities 

(SISTN) was set up. According to the STN, the National Public Sector Balance for the year 2010 

resulted in statements adapted to international standards. In that fiscal year, 100% of the states 

and 88.9% of municipalities submitted their accounts for consolidation. 

Currently, two bodies set standards on government accounting in Brazil: a) the National 

Treasury Secretariat (STN) and b) the Federal Accounting Board (CFC).  

The STN is a federal government body and is the central agency of the Federal Accounting 

Organization System. It is a department of the Ministry of Finance. It has the power to set 

standards that deal with operational aspects of the Federal Public Accounts. According to Law 

No 10180, of 2001, the Federal Accounting System aims to present the budget and financial 

situation of the federal government. STN is also in charge of preparing the financial statements 

and manages the activities related to implementation of information system managerial costs. 

Because it is a federal agency, until the year 2000 it had power to regulate only federal financial 

reports.  

Because of this provision and in order to issue standards to the whole federation, in the 

year 2000 LRF created the Fiscal Management Council (CGF) empowered to set general rules 
                                                 
11 Brazilian’s SAI is called Tribunal de Contas da União (TCU). 
12 Receita Federal do Brasil (RFB). 
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for consolidation of national and subnational government accounts13. However, more than ten 

years after its creation, the CGF is not yet done. Otherwise, LRF empowered STN to allow a 

transitional period until the CGF would be implemented. Thus, STN was empowered to issue 

accounting standards for federal, state and local government levels which ensure its standards 

prevail. It also allows flexibility and agility in the reforms implementation. However, STN is not 

a board. In order to attend the constant claims and participle in state and local governments 

accounting bodies, the STN has established working groups and opened participation to all 

interested stakeholders. The standards are established by consensus among the participants. The 

first edition of the “Plan of Accounts Applied to the Public Sector”, to be used by both national 

and subnational governments, is a result of this participation. 

Recently, Presidential Decree No. 6976, of 2009, established as one of its goals that the 

Federal Accounting System search for convergence to international accounting standards. The 

Ministry of Finance determined that the STN should make Brazil’s government accounting 

methods consistent with those issued by the International Accounting Standards (IAS) published 

by the IFAC and those issued by the Federal Accounting Board (CFC)14. This regulation 

empowered STN to edit manuals, guidelines, instructions and accounting procedures, aiming at 

the preparation and publication of consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

international accounting standards applied to public sector. Based on this power, the STN has 

been working to implement IPSAS in Brazil. 

Currently, the main STN accounting standards are presented in the table 12. As provided 

in the MCASP for fiscal year of 2011, Part II (Asset Accounting Procedures) and Part III 

(Specific Accounting Procedures) should be adopted, on a mandatory basis by all government 

levels by the year 2011. Part IV (Plan Accounts Applied to Public Sector) and Part V (Financial 

Statements Applied to the Public Sector) should be adopted, on a mandatory basis by the Federal 

Government, by the year 2012. 

Because of the LRF’s empowerment, the STN’s manuals are mandatory standards for all 

government agencies (federal, state or local). They are characterized by being more detailed and 

procedural. They contain rules for provisions, depreciation and the recognition of liabilities. 

They are published and reviewed annually. These manuals present new interpretations of Law 

No. 4.320, of 1964. They affect provisions referring to concepts, budget, recognition of revenues 

and expenses, accounting procedures, financial statements and statement of public finance 

                                                 
13 Standards for consolidation is the same of standards for general-purpose as IPSAS prescribes. Factually, it is not 
possible to set standards for consolidation without some prescriptions to the accounting systems. 
14 Ordinance No. 184, August 25, 2008. 
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statistics. They prescribe the use of accrual basis for both revenue and expenditures. However, 

the standards issued by the STN, because of the law cannot conflict with the provisions of Law 

No. 4320, of 1964, and it is been controversial the interpretation about the accrual basis use. 

Table 12. Brazilian Government Generally Accepted Accounting Standards (GAAP) Issued by 
STN 

For the fiscal year of 2011 
Applied Accounting Manual for Public Sector (MCASP) – 3rd. Issue 

Main volume 
Part I - Budgetary Accounting Procedures 
Part II - Asset Accounting Procedures 
Part III - Specific Accounting Procedures 
Part IV - Plan Accounts Applied to Public Sector 
Part V - Financial Statements Applied to Public Sector 
Part VI - Questions and Answers 
Part VII - Practical Exercise 
Part VIII - Statement of Public Finance Statistics 

Volume Attachments 
Annexes to the 3rd Edition of MCASP 
Note to the 3rd Edition of MCASP 

Source: STN’s internet site; access in July, 15th, 2011. 

So, this is one important consideration: in Brazil, the regulatory body cannot conflict with 

any legal provisions. Law operates here as a check and balance institution. Besides this legal 

issue, there are two other important governance issues in this model of accounting setting 

standard setting.  

The first one, at the same time the STN set standards for itself and for subnational 

governments; it prepares the federal financial statements included in the President’s accounts 

submitted to the Congress. This situation can impairs the financial reports content and enhance 

the moral hazard.  The second one, there are important conflicts between the National Treasury 

Secretariat (STN) and Federal Accounting Board (CFC regulations, the other standard-setting 

body. 

The CFC is a special agency, an independent body15, which guides, regulates and 

supervises the practice of the accounting profession in Brazil (Decree-Law No. 9.295 of 1946). 

Until 2007, it had not issued any rule specifically applying to the public sector. In that year it 

issued CFC Resolution No. 1.111, which presented an amendment that applied to the public 

sector the "Brazilian Fundamental Accounting Principles" (PFC) which had been applied only to 

the private sector. 

In the document "Strategic Accounting for Applied Public Sector in Brazil", CFC states its 

intention to build standards for the public sector in a participatory manner with the main users 

                                                 
15 CFC is independent and funds its activities collecting mandatory funds from the accountants who have to affiliate 
it in order to exercise the profession. However, it is submitted to governmental controls, such as TCU’s audit. 
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through public hearings, discussion forums and discussions with all stakeholders prior to its final 

approval. One of the guidelines stated in this document is "To encourage the Convergence to 

International Accounting Standards with the Public Sector Standards (IPSAS)."  

As a result of these efforts, in 2008 it was issued the Brazilian government accounting 

standards (NBC). Under the name NBC T 16, ten rules were issued. They were heavily based on 

the accrual basis with the explicit objective of serving as a counterweight of the prevailing 

budgetary cash accounting perspective. Although the STN has a seat at CFC’s meetings, the two 

sets of standards issued by the bodies are complementary but sometimes they conflict with each 

other, mainly with Law No 4,320 provisions.  

Table 13. Brazilian Government Accounting Standards Issued by CFC 

NBC Issue 
NBC T 16.1 Concept, Object and Field of Application 
NBC T 16.2 Equity and Accounting Systems  
NBC T 16.3 Planning and Instruments under Accounting Approach  
NBC T 16.4 Public Sector Transactions 
NBC T 16.5 Bookkeeping 
NBC T 16.6 Financial Statements
NBC T 16.7 Consolidation of Financial Statements
NBC T 16.8 Internal Control 
NBC T 16.9 Depreciation, Amortization and Depletion 
NBC T 16.10 Evaluation and Measurement of Assets and Liabilities in Public Sector Entities 
NBC T.16.11 Cost (* not yet approved) 

Source: Federal Accounting Board (CFC). 

A brief overview of the main differences is presented in the following table. 

Table 14. STN vs. CFC Government Accounting Standards in Comparison 

 STN CFC 

Scope 
Government agencies (bodies) in both 

national and subnational levels. 
Governmental and non-governmental 

accountants (professionals). 
Timeliness Periodicals (renewed annually) Permanent 

Generic 
characteristics 

Detailed and procedural. Generic and principles-based. 

Statutory 
financial 

statements 

Balance sheet, statement of cash flows, 
budget balance, statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in 

equity 

Balance sheet, statement of cash flows, budget 
balance, statement of financial performance, 

statement of economic performance 

Basis Accrual Accrual 

Date of 
mandatory use 

2012 for federal and state governments and 
2013 for municipal government. 

2010* (except those entities which are subject to 
separate legislation establishing deadline for 

early adoption of NBC) 

Source: CFC and STN standards. 

One important example of a difference between the standards is depreciation. According to 

CFC’s NBC, depreciation is mandatory but the standard does not specify any criteria. The STN 

detailed the procedure for depreciation, but limited its application to the federal government.  

Another important difference is the required financial statements, as shown in the table. 15 
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The statements considered mandatory by Law No 4320 are also required by the STN and 

the CFC standards. However, the STN requires additional statements that are not required by 

law (i.e. statement of changes in equity) and does not prepare financial statements considered 

mandatory by the CFC (i.e. statement of economic performance). There are also differences 

between core concepts such as current and noncurrent assets. Uncertainty increases the cost of 

reporting and ultimately the transparency. 

Table 15. Brazil’s Financial Statements 

Financial Statements Law 4320 STN NBC/CFC 
Balance sheet  X X X 
Statement of financial performance  X X X 
Statement of “cash performance” X X X 
Budgetary statement X X X 
Statement of cash flow   X X 
Statement of changes in equity   X  
Statement of economic performance    X 

Source: Law No 4320 of 1964, STN’s manuals and NBC. 

Otherwise, there are a considerable number of common prescriptions common between 

both standards. The most tangible is the prescription of the use of accrual basis both for revenue 

and for expenditures, without any limitations on its degree (mild accruals, moderate accruals, 

strong accruals, or “radical”/full accruals). 

As stated above, Law No 4320 does not prescribe explicitly what the accounting basis is. 

So its provisions are subjected to different interpretations. Nevertheless, the Fiscal 

Responsibility Act (LRF) establishes that all expenditures must be recorded under the accrual 

basis without prescribing anything about the revenues. Additionally Complementary Law No. 

131, of 2009, mandates the recognition of all receivables by the Internal Revenue Service, again 

without prescribing explicitly the use of the accrual basis for revenue. Some tentative has been 

done in order to record a “modified power of taxation” as an asset. Pensions and contingent 

liabilities are not recorder. 

Although accrual of revenue and expense are tied to recognition and measurement of 

assets and liabilities, the Brazilian Court of Audit (TCU) does not recognize the accrual basis for 

revenues which means a dead-lock at the moment. 

The CFC standards-setting role could be seen as a solution to the governance problem of 

lack of independence in the double task performed by STN (both the standard setting task and 

the financial reporting preparation task). However, the CFC’s role is not well accepted for all 

stakeholders, especially government officials in the budget sector and in the Supreme Audit 

Institution (SAI). One of main causes is the supposed conflicts with the Law nº 4320 of 1964. 



37 

So, it seems that one alternative solution is to create a board that brings together both STN 

and CFC or at least gather other relevant bodies within the government like the US Federal 

Accounting Standards Advisory Board’s model. FASAB is sponsored by the Office of 

Management and Budget, the Treasury and the Government Accountability Office (GAO). In 

fact, this role would be played by the Fiscal Management Council (CGF) which contains the 

STN and the CFC in whose original bill which is in Congress waiting for consideration.  

In addition, the several Bills proposing reforms in the Law No 4,320 focus primarily on 

budget issues which are a cause of political dead-locks. An alternative solution is to send a bill 

to Congress proposing only one amendment to the Federal Law No 4,320: “Accounting must use 

the accrual basis for both revenues and expenditures”. 

Thus, Brazil’s current financial reporting frameworks summarized and analyzed in the 

table below. 

Table 16. Brazil’s Ex-Ante Financial Reporting Credibility Frameworks Analysis 

 Standards Setting 

Body 
a) Two conflicting boards, one powerful and non-independent (STN). The council board was not 
implemented yet.  
b) Both are empowered to set standards for national and sub national governments. 

Content/ 
Procedure 

Use of accrual basis for expenditures and use of cash basis for revenues (use of accrual basis for 
revenues is not clear in the legislation)

Source: prepared by the author. 

One aspect must be stressed: the STN’s lack of independence does not mean a lack of 

technical competence or professionalism. Independence in this context is to be positioning in the 

Executive branch without any inputs from the other relevant stakeholders in the formal decision 

although STN has been conducting very participatory meetings and public hearings.  

Finally, Brazil has good framework to implement full-accrual because already use double-

entry recording system and has balance sheets with a minimum chart of asset and liability 

accounts. But it has to solve these two kinds of conflict regarding accounting standards in Brazil: 

a) conflict in focus between the Law No. 4320 (budget in a cash basis) and the regulators 

(accounting in an accrual basis); and b) conflict in standards-setting between the regulators. 

3.2.2. The United States 

There are many differences between federal and state and local standards and practices and 

some similarities in an American model of government accounting and financial reporting.  

The source of government accounting regulation in the US comes from: a) the legislative 

branch, though the law (state statures and local ordinances); b) regulations issued by State 
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Comptrollers (chief accounting officer), State Auditors and State Budget, and c) two different 

bodies, as shown in the table 17. 

As mentioned, the most important regulation are the1990 Chief Financial Officers Act 

(CFO) and the 1996 Federal Financial Management Improvement Act [FFMIA]. 

Table 17. The U.S. Financial Reporting Regulation Bodies 

Body Jurisdiction Establishment 

Governmental 
Accounting 

Standards Board 
(Gasb) 

Set standards are applicable to state and 
local governments and their business 

enterprises and nonprofit entities 

The GASB was established in 1984 by the FAF 
in agreement with the organizations 

representing governments and their officials, 
accounting and public finance professionals and 
capital market participants – all on its advisory 

council. 
Federal 

Accounting 
Standards 
Advisory 

Standards (Fasab) 

Set standards are applicable to the Federal 
Government as a whole and all federal 
organizational units, including business 

enterprises and nonprofit entities. 

It was established in 1990 on the basis of a 
Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Secretary of the Treasury, the director of the 

Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and 
the Comptroller General (head of the GAO). 

Source: prepared by the author based in Chan (2000). 

In the United States, accountants and business accounting ideas have a long history of 

influencing government accounting. American governments and their officials are very sensitive 

about the “jurisdictional issue” – who can tell them how to account and report (Chan, 2000 and 

2008d).  Professional influence has traditionally been much strong in financial accounting for 

state and local governments. While these governments retain the legal authority over their 

accounting systems and internal reports, their external financial reporting has been subject to 

standards promulgated by highly competent institutional structures that combine technical 

expertise with a wide-range of political, economic and professional interests (Chan, 2000 and 

2008d).  

The GASB is a result of several years of negotiations and replaces the National Council on 

Governmental Accounting (NCGA). As well as its sister organization the FASB, which issues 

standards to the private sector, the GASB also was established under the auspices of the 

Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF). The FAF has the same relationship with the GASB as 

it does with the FASB. The FAF Trustees appoint members, raise money, and provide oversight 

for the GASB (IFAC, 2006). The board is supported by 18 technical and direct administrative 

staff (information current as of December 31, 2005). The GASB is also supported by the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Advisory Council (GASAC). The GASAC is a 29-member 

body that provides advice and counsel to the GASB on issues ranging from the Board’s technical 

agenda to constituent communications. To date, the GASB has issued 47 standards, six 

Interpretations, 12 Technical Bulletins, and three Concepts Statements. The GASB standards are 

effective upon adoption by the board (IFAC, 2006). 
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In the Federal government, the institutional framework is considerably different. FASAB 

is an inter-branch cooperative body in the Federal government. It involves both the executive 

and legislative branches of the federal government as well as the private sector. Compliance with 

the U.S. Constitution requires that the administratively established FASAB have the legal status 

of an advisory board. Regarding FASAB: 

“Because the Fasab’s authority stems from those of the sponsors that established it, 
Fasab submits any concepts statements and standards it develops to its sponsors for 
review. The concept statement or standard is then issued, unless OMB or GAO objects 
within 90 days. To date, all concepts statements and standards developed by Fasab have 
been issued.” 

In order to enhance the FASAB’s independence, a majority of members are not federal 

government employees. The ratio of official and public members was recently reversed (from 

6:3 to 3:6)16 in order to gain recognition by the AICPA.  

Both FASAB and GASB have clearly defined jurisdictional lines of authority and are now 

recognized by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) as bodies that 

establish generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The GASB gained 

AICPA recognition in 1986 and FASAB in 199917. Even though the two Boards are independent 

of each other, each Board considers the standards, concepts, and progress on current projects of 

the others as part of their individual standard setting process. Both FASAB and GASB were a 

result of long negotiations among their “stakeholders” and adopt, in substance, the FASB 

standards for their business enterprises. The GASB and the FASAB share common concerns for 

financial accountability and have used similar approaches, as shown in the table 18. 

Table 18. GASB and FASAB Similarities 

Aspect Description 

Emphasis 

• External reporting to users to discharge the government’s accountability. 
• Government-wide financial statements and disclosures. 
• Acceptance of the accrual basis, at least in principle. 
• Acceptance of a broad measurement focus for the balance sheet. 
• Actual financial performance compared or reconciled with the budget. 
• Use of “Management discussion and analysis” to help users understand government´s finances. 

Standard-
setting 

Approach 

• Both Gasb and Fasab are sensitive about their authority, with informal exchanges but no formal 
mechanism for harmonization. 
• Both Gasb and Fasab have mostly part time board members and full-time staff. 
• Both Gasb and Fasab encourage broad public participation in “due process” in order to increase 
compliance. 

Approaches 
 

• Both boards have emphasized responsiveness to urgent and practical issues. 
• Both boards have used the incremental approach and issued individual standards that vary in scope 
and substance. 

                                                 
16 The membership of FASAB was carefully calibrated to reflect the interests of all concerned: three from the 
sponsors, two from the federal agencies, one from the Congressional Budget Office, and three public (i.e. non-
federal) members (Chan, 2008c). 
17 AICPA involvement is due to governments’ engaging CPAs to perform independent (external) audits of their 
financial statements. Under the AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct, CPAs are required to follow GAAP or 
justify departures from GAAP. AICPA recognizes only certain organizations’ authority to set GAAP (Chan, 2008d). 
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• Both boards have found it necessary to resolve fundamental conceptual issues, only after 
preliminary efforts to create a conceptual framework. 
• Both boards have attempted to deal with these issues: reporting entity, relationships between 
accounting and the budget, and measurement focus and basis of accounting. 
Measurement of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditure/expenses. 

Source: produced by the author based in Chan (2000) and IFAC (2006). 

Otherwise, there are some important differences between the bodies as shown in the table 

19. 

Table 19. Differences between FASAB and GASB 

Fasab Gasb 
• Fasab is an inter-branch cooperative mechanism in the 
Federal Government. 

• Gasb is a nongovernmental body under a private-
sector foundation. 

• Fasab is under direct government oversight. • Governments participate in an advisory council. 
• Fasab standards are enforced through legislative and 
administrative requirements. 

• Gasb standards are enforced through external audits 
and capital markets (public debt). 

• Standards cover management and cost accounting. • Financial accounting standards for external reports. 
• Congress and managers among primary users. • Creditors and investors among primary users. 
• Departments issue external reports. • Presentation of major funds in financial statements. 

Source: produced by the author based in Chan (2000) and IFAC (2006). 

Regarding the US Federal government, until 1990 the responsibility for financial reporting 

requirements was divided between the Government Accountability Office (GAO, former 

General Accounting Office), the United States Treasury, and the Office of Management and 

Budget. Over the years, all three entities issued guidance that addressed financial reporting 

issues. Most of this guidance was consistent, although there were cases of conflict. 

The basic architecture of the financial system for the Federal government was established 

by the Budget and Accounting Act of 1921, which created the Bureau of the Budget (BOB), 

inside the Treasury Department, and the GAO, a legislative branch bureau. As evidenced the 

title of the law, Congress intended a close relationship between budgeting and accounting. The 

BOB was transformed in the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and the Treasury 

Department was reduced to the federal government’s cash manager and bookkeeper. The 

management side of OMB was strengthened by the 1990 Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Act. 

This legislation designated an OMB’s deputy director as the CFO and created similar CFO 

positions in executive departments and agencies. These officials form a CFO Council for 

coordinating actions to improve financial management throughout the government.  

The CFOs were charged with overseeing all aspects of financial management, especially 

the development and maintenance of integrated systems and the production of reliable financial 

information. The information would be used in part to prepare audited agency financial 

statements, whose form and content would be determined by the OMB and which would meet 

applicable accounting standards. This was a problem: 
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The 1990 CFO Act does not alter the traditional role of the Treasury in preparing 
the Annual Reports of the U.S. Government, or the GAO’s status as the government’s 
auditor. However, it added a complication to the already complex jurisdictional issue of 
who should set federal accounting standards. The act authorized OMB to determine the 
‘form and content’ of financial statements of federal agencies, but did not change the 
GAO’s longstanding role in prescribing accounting standards. Fortunately, the secretary 
of the Treasury, director of the OMB, and the Comptroller General by 1990 reached an 
agreement to sponsor a Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (Fasab). (Chan, 
2000). 

Currently, the standards for Federal government are set by FASAB. The FASAB’s mission 

is stated in its website: 

The mission of the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) is to 
develop accounting standards after considering the financial and budgetary information 
needs of congressional oversight groups, executive agencies, and the needs of other users 
of federal financial information. 

Accounting and financial reporting standards are essential for public accountability 
and for an efficient and effective functioning of our democratic system of government. 
Thus federal accounting standards and financial reporting play a major role in fulfilling 
the government’s duty to be publicly accountable and can be used to (1) assess the 
government’s accountability and its efficiency and effectiveness, and (2) contribute to the 
understanding of the economic, political, and social consequences of the allocation and 
various uses of federal resources. (Fasab’s website. Access in July, 15th, 2011) 

Regarding standard-setting, the FASAB has been issued 38 Statements and 7 

Interpretations as of June 30, 2010 (FASAB, 2010)18. Notice that accounting and financial 

reporting standards are no longer dominated by budget concepts and practices. Now the accrual 

basis is the common preferred measurement method of accounting in the United States for both 

GASB and FASAB. As applied to accrual accounting in Federal government: 

Accrual accounting is not a new requirement for the federal government. As early 
as the 1950s, the Hoover Commission recommended accrued expenditures and this 
position was later supported by the President’s Commission on Budget Concepts in 1968. 
The Bureau of the Budget and the Treasury Department attempted to implement the 
recommendation, but found that impractical. (Chan, 2000). 

According to Chan (2000), the FASAB’s endorsement of the accrual basis has several new 

aspects: 

First, accruals would apply to the entire federal financial reporting model, and not 
selectively to particular programs or elements in the financial statements. Second, full 
accrual rather than modified accrual was recommended. (…) Federal resources not 
recognizable as assets (e.g. national monuments) and federal responsibilities not 
recognizable as liabilities (e.g. social insurance benefits) would be reported separately in 
a ‘Stewardship Report.’ This approach acknowledges their importance and intractable 
conceptual and measurement problems (Chan, 2000). 

However, important assets like the power of taxation, the pensions and some contingent 

liabilities are not recorded. 

                                                 
18 Fasab’s website (www.fasab.gov) register 41 standards issue in October, 4th, 2011. 
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The form and content of financial reports, rather than the accounting mechanisms, are the 

focus of the standard-setting boards concerned with the government’s demonstration of public 

accountability. The financial status of the whole government is the priority in external reporting: 

In its first concepts statement, Federal Financial Reporting Objectives, the Fasab 
presents its views on the unique nature of government and the limitations of financial 
reporting, and identifies users and four reporting objectives. Significant aspects of the 
concepts are that (1) both internal and external users are served by financial reports, and 
(2) accounting standards may improve information outside of general purpose financial 
reports (for example, that the objectives and measures established may be useful for 
some aspects of special reporting). (Chan, 2000). 

The FASAB’s four reporting objectives regarding Federal financial management are 

presented in table 20.  

Table 20. The FASAB’s Four Reporting Objectives  

Objective Description 

Budgetary 
Integrity 

Federal financial reporting should assist in fulfilling the government’s duty to be publicly 
accountable for monies raised through taxes and other means and for their expenditure in 
accordance with the appropriations laws that establish the government’s budget for a particular 
fiscal year and related laws and regulations 

Operating 
Performance 

Federal financial reporting should assist report users in evaluating the service efforts, costs, and 
accomplishments of the reporting entity; the manner in which these efforts and accomplishments 
have been financed; and the management of the entity’s assets and liabilities. 

Stewardship 
Federal financial reporting should assist report users in assessing the impact on the country of 
the government’s operations and investments for the period and how, as a result, the 
government’s and the nation’s financial condition has changed and may change in the future.

Systems and 
Control 

Federal financial reporting should assist report users in understanding whether financial 
management systems and internal accounting and administrative controls are adequate. 

Source: produced by the author based in Fasab (2010). 

The FASAB’s financial statements are accompanied by public officials’ discussion and 

analysis of the government’s goals and activities to facilitate user comprehension. 

The United States’ ex-ante financial reporting framework is presented in the table below. 

Table 21. The U.S. Ex-Ante Financial Reporting Credibility Frameworks Analysis 

 Standards Setting 

Body 
Government accounting standards are set by a quasi-independent boards with extensive inputs 
from all interested parties. 

Content/ 
Procedure 

Use of the accrual basis. 

Source: prepared by the author. 

Regarding the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), although this 

regulation is de facto adopted, because FASAB’s standards are broadly consistent with these 

standards, its utilization is not under evaluation by the government of the United States. 

However, FASAB has been incorporated the work of other standards-setters (Payne and 

Ranagan, 2008). 
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So, in the 90’s the US government face great important reforms in the financial reporting 

and accounting system improving the independence of the accounting-setting body and 

implementing accrual basis. These aspects raise the credibility of the government financial 

reporting. 

3.3. Government Financial Reporting Auditing 

As described above, government audits are critical to the regulatory system as they detect 

non-compliance with standards and violations of norms, thereby contributing significantly to 

enforcing the laws. So, in order to conclude on how appropriate is the audit framework to 

provide credibility to financial reporting at least two different but complementary aspects must 

be analyzed: a) who is the third-party that is going to assure the credibility and integrity of 

financial reports, and b) how are they going to do this? 

The third-party must be independent of the agents and principals. The INTOSAI’s Lima 

Declaration prescribes what characteristics make a Supreme Audit Institution (SAI) independent. 

Once independence is achieved, the SAI must use the appropriate techniques to ensure the 

integrity the financial reporting. The International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 

(ISSAI), from 2000-2999, deal with auditing standards for financial statements. The 

prescriptions are presented in table 8. 

3.3.1. Brazil 

Unlike the case of the standard-setting body, the auditing body model is decentralized. 

Brazil’s audit institutions include various organizations at the national and subnational levels. 

They are presented in the table 22. 

Table 22. Brazilian Government Audit Institutions 

 Federal government State and Federal District Municipalities 
External audit 

agencies 
Federal Court of Audit (TCU) 

State Court of Audit (TCE) or Court 
of Audit of Federal District (TCDF) 

Municipal Court of 
Audit (TCM)* 

Internal audit 
agencies 

Federal Office of the Comptroller 
General (CGU) and sectorial 

agencies of the Executive, 
Legislative and Judicial branches 

Internal audit bodies of the 
Executive, Legislative and Judicial 

branches of the states and the 
Federal District. 

Internal audit 
agencies. 

Source: Holanda & Vieira, 2009. Notes: (*) Only in the municipalities of São Paulo and Rio de Janeiro. In other 
municipalities, audits are performed by the respective State Court of Audits. 

The Federal Office of the Comptroller General (CGU) carries out government audits with 

regard only to the Federal Executive branch. In the early days of its existence, however, the 

internal audit activities were part of the set of assignments of the STN. It was clearly a situation 

of lack of good governance because of STN, in that situation, set accounting standards, 

controlled the cash (“single account”), prepared the financial statement and performed the audit 
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engagements. Currently, CGU is in charge of preparing the President’s Accounts which are sent 

to National Congress, but it does not audit them19. 

TCU is both the Brazilian SAI and the federal government external audit body. It is a 

board that helps the national Congress. It is composed of 9 members (Ministers). The 1988 

Federal Constitution (Articles 70 to 73) expanded and consolidated the authority of TCU, giving 

it greater independence and expanding its scope of activities (Article 70). TCU is independent 

and complies with international best practices. Appendix 1 presents the comparison between 

TCU’s status quo and the INTOSAI’s Lima Declaration prescriptions regarding independence. 

TCU has both a constitutional (Federal Constitution, Article 71) and legal mandate 

(Federal Law nº 8443 of 1992) to audit all Federal public finance management, including 

accounting systems and financial reporting, with a wide scope. These audits check compliance 

(with norms and regulations) or performance (efficiency and effectiveness, and the attainment of 

targets).  

The audit engagements could be classified as those where the audit engagement is aimed 

directly or indirectly at an improvement of the public management and those that issue a report 

to a third party (for instance Congress, press, managers). A combination is also and frequently 

possible. 

The financial audit is an engagement conducted in order to issue an opinion to a third party 

about the integrity and reliability of financial reports. It could lead to an improvement in the 

government management by improving internal controls and detecting deviation or inability to 

perform basic government function. 

As mentioned, there are three main set of financial reports in the Federal government: a) 

the LRF reports; b) the management reports; and c) the President’s Accounts. All of them must 

be submitted to CGU and TCU although in a different manner. Reports (a) and (c) are prepared 

by STN and CGU together. Report (b) is prepared by the departments/agencies and is submitted 

to CGU’s audit as well as all of them are submitted to TCU’s audit. All of them have financial 

statements and/or accounting data as a base for their preparation. 

TCU engagements on the reports (a) have detected some evidence of misstatements which 

impairs their integrity. The main evidence is especially in the public debt report. 

TCU engagements on the reports (b) have detected much more evidence of internal 

controls weakness, deviations and inability to perform government functions in some 

departments and agencies. In these cases, some misstatements have been detected in the 

                                                 
19 STN prepares the financial statements which is part of the President’s accounts. 
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financial statements (like misstatements of cash balances and revenues, and overstatement of 

liabilities). Moreover, the weakness of cost systems20 impairs the effective analysis of public 

politics and programs and the implemention of alternative solutions. 

Politically and institutionally, the most important report is the President’s Account (c). The 

TCU must audit this report within 60 days of receiving it. The assessment is then sent to the 

National Congress for approval or rejection. The President’s Account consists of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements (BGU) and some complementary information. It is a 

document prepared by various agencies of the Executive branch under the coordination of CGU 

as shown in the table 23. 

BGU is prepared in accordance with set devices and “the provisions of Federal Accounting 

Council on Fundamental Accounting Principles, and as the Brazilian Accounting Standards 

Applied to the Public Sector (CFC’s NBC T 16)”. Despite the interest in producing accounting 

reports on the accrual basis, the BGU is primarily a budget document. BGU contains the 

following information: 

These statements reflect the use of the resources in the Budget in favor of the 
ministries or equivalent bodies, the bodies of Indirect Administration, represented by 
government agencies, foundations, public companies and joint stock companies, and 
entities established with resources specific destination, called Special Funds (BGU, 
2010). 

The TCU assesses these reports and statements in order to issue an opinion to the Congress 

about their integrity and reliability. The “Report and Previous Opinions on the Accounts of the 

Government of the Republic” is the TCU’s document that is made for the National Congress.  

Table 23. Consolidated Financial Statements – Agencies in Charge and Tasks 

Agency Task 
CGU (Office of the Federal Comptroller) General coordination. 
SOF (Office of Federal Budget) of the Ministry of Planning, 
Budget and Management 

Prepares the budget execution information. 

STN (National Treasure Secretariat) of Ministry of Finance Prepares the financial statements. 
Dest (Department of Coordination and Governance of State 
Owned Enterprises) of the Ministry of Planning, Budget and 
Management. 

Prepares the Government Businesses 
Enterprises reports. 

Other agencies Specific issues. 
Source: BGU (2010) available in CGU’s web site (www.cgu.gov.br), access in July, 18th, 2011. 

TCU has given importance to the analysis of the President’s Accounts. Some adopted 

measures include: (a) creation of a specific internal unit to address this task; (b) completion of 

studies and specific audits; (c) suggestions, determinations and recommendations to the branches 

and to the public prosecutor in the draft opinion. Within the Congress, however, the situation is 

not the same. In fact, the President’s Accounts do not catch the interest of Parliament, except on 
                                                 
20 As it mentioned, STN have been self-structured in order to implement the cost system for all Federal 
government. Notice that some state-owned enterprises have cost system. 
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rare occasions. Exogenous inputs, especially from Congress, the main stakeholder, could 

improve the TCU’s engagements quality.  

As stated above, for the purpose of assessing accounts of the President it is necessary that 

the financial statements be reliable and complete, as the LRF prescribes in Article 50. So, the 

TCU’s objective is testing reliability and integrity of reported financial reports and statements. 

In terms of the methods used in the engagement, the “Report and Previous Opinions on the 

Accounts of the Government of the Republic” is a document that is not submitted to the 

INTOSAI’s ISSAI or any other standards of financial audit (internal or external). Although TCU 

is a member of the INTOSAI, does not follow these standards for conducting financial audits. 

TCU does not have its own standards for financial audits. There is no reference regarding the use 

of standards in the cited document. The lack of a requirement to comply with standards of 

financial audits make weak the opinion that betting on the document: 

Believes that the General Balance Sheet adequately represent the position 
financial, budgetary and property on December 31, 2010, as well as the result of 
operations in accordance with the fundamental principles of accounting applied to the 
Administration Federal Public Accounts reason of the Executive relating to the 2010 
financial year, the responsibility of the President of the Republic His Excellency Luiz 
Inacio Lula da Silva, are able to be approved, with reservations, by Congress. (TCU, 
2011) 

Since the engagements are not based on standards for financial audits, the TCU’s analysis 

in the President’s Account have been identified as problems of misstatement and overstatement 

of assets (“single account”, fixed assets, long-term credit) or liabilities (long-term debit) and lack 

of information in the notes. Moreover, not all federal agencies has not been included in the 

consolidated financial reports. Furthermore, most of work is not systematic or periodic. Aware 

of some of its weaknesses, TCU has recently signed an agreement with the OECD to conduct a 

peer review in the “Report and Previous Opinions on the Accounts of the Government of the 

Republic” and another one with the World Bank to improve its capacity to perform financial 

audit engagements.  

So, Brazil’s ex-post financial reporting credibility framework is presented in the table 24. 

Table 24. Brazil’s Ex-Post Financial Reporting Credibility Frameworks Analysis 
 Auditing 

Body 
TCU is strongly independent which permits it to conduct audit engagements in any federal 
resources area. 

Content/ 
Procedure 

Although TCU is a member of Intosai, does not follow the Intosai’s standards for conducting 
financial audit. Also TCU does not have its own standards applied for financial audit. However, 
the engagements that have been completed have identified some internal control weakness and 
misstatements/overstatements in the balance sheet.  

Source: prepared by the author. 
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An audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards 

would generate externalities that include uniformity and credibility, and would create an 

environment for conducting internal and external financial reviews. Also, it works as an 

effective checks and balances mechanisms of existing disclosure questions in financial reporting. 

In conclusion, Brazil has good framework regarding ex-post mechanisms but it must 

enhance financial audits practices further. 

3.3.2. The United States 

The US Federal government external audit body is the Government Accountability Office 

(GAO). GAO belongs to legislative branch. It is headed by the US Comptroller General with a 

15-year term who can be removed only by impeachment or a joint resolution of Congress for 

specified reasons. In its history, it was not always an audit body exclusively. In the early years of 

its existence it was in charge of accounting issues transferred from the Treasury Department, in 

accordance with the 1921 Budget and Accounting Act. After the 1990 CFO Act and the creation 

of FASAB, GAO has expanded its goals to provide accountability, reliability and integrity 

through audit engagements.  

GAO is an INTOSAI’s member and complies with some prescriptions of the INTOSAI’s 

Lima Declaration21. GAO has both a constitutional and legal mandate to audit all Federal public 

finance, including accounting systems and financial reporting, with a wide scope. These audits 

check compliance (with norms and regulations) or performance (efficiency and effectiveness, 

and the attainment of targets).  

A financial audit is an engagement conducted in order to issue an opinion to a third party 

about the integrity and reliability of financial reports. Its conclusion, furthermore, could lead to 

an improvement in the government management by improving internal controls and detecting 

deviation and inability to perform basic government function. 

The 1994 GMRA requires a reporting covering the executive branch of government22. The 

Secretary of the Treasury, in coordination with the Director of the Office of Management and 

Budget (OMB), is required annually to submit financial statements for the U.S. government to 

the President and the Congress. GAO is required to audit these statements. The report is 

accompanied by the consolidated financial statements. 

                                                 
21 A tentative was made to get more information that could enrich the conclusions presented here. However, the 
information obtained could not be addressed until the deadline of this paper. 
22 This practice began with financial statements prepared for fiscal year 1997. 
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The Federal government is responsible for (1) preparing annual consolidated financial 

statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP); (2) 

establishing, maintaining, and assessing internal control to provide reasonable assurance that the 

control objectives of the Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA) are met; and (3) 

complying with significant laws and regulations. Also, the 24 Chief Financial Officers (CFO) 

Act agencies are responsible for implementing and maintaining financial management systems 

that substantially comply with Federal Financial Management Improvement Act of 1996 

(FFMIA) requirements. 

Although the preparation of consolidated financial statements on the accrual basis began in 

the 1970s, the first audited financial statements were conducted only in 1998 (Chan, 2000 and 

2008d). In terms of the methods used in the engagement, the “Government Accountability 

Office Auditor’s Report” is a document that is not submitted to INTOSAI’s ISSAI standards of 

financial audit. However, GAO has its own Generally Accepted Government Accounting 

Standards (Gagas)23 and its own “Financial Audit Manual”. 

The GAO’s report on the financial statements and its findings, for the fiscal year of 2010, 

is presented following: 

• Certain material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting and other 
limitations on the scope of our work resulted in conditions that continued to prevent us 
from expressing an opinion on the accompanying accrual-based consolidated financial 
statements for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009. 

• Significant uncertainties (discussed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial 
statements), primarily related to the achievement of projected reductions in Medicare cost 
growth reflected in the 2010 Statement of Social Insurance, prevented us from expressing 
an opinion on that statement. The Statements of Social Insurance for 2009, 2008, and 
20078 are presented fairly, in all material respects, in conformity with GAAP; and we 
disclaim an opinion on the 2006 Statement of Social Insurance. 

• Material weaknesses resulted in ineffective internal control over financial 
reporting (including safeguarding of assets). 

• Our work to test compliance with selected provisions of laws and regulations in 
fiscal year 2010 was limited by the material weaknesses and other scope limitations 
discussed in this report. (GAO, 2010) 

The GAO’s opinion stresses the limitations of scope, which are described following: 

Three major impediments continued to prevent us from rendering an opinion on 
the accrual-based consolidated financial statements: (1) serious financial management 
problems at the Department of Defense (DOD) that have prevented DOD’s financial 
statements from being auditable, (2) the federal government’s inability to adequately 
account for and reconcile intragovernmental activity and balances between federal 
entities, and (3) the federal government’s ineffective process for preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the financial statements of the Department 
of Homeland Security for fiscal years 2010 and 2009 and the Department of Labor for 
fiscal year 2010 were not auditable or not subjected to audit by agency auditors. Further, 

                                                 
23 It is also called the Yellow Book. 
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some of the financial statements of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration 
for fiscal year 2010 were not fully auditable and for fiscal year 2009 all were not 
auditable. (GAO, 2010) 

This GAO’s conclusion is strong and robust. Further, it demonstrates independence and 

enables the continuous improvement of the report.  

So, the United States’ ex-post financial reporting credibility framework is presented in the 

table below. 

Table 25. The U.S. Ex-Post Financial Reporting Credibility Frameworks Analysis 

 Auditing 

Body 
GAO is strongly independent and is permited to conduct audit engagements in any federal 
resources area. 

Content/ 
Procedure 

Although GAO is a member of Intosai, does not follow the Intosai’s standards for conducting 
financial audits. However, it has its own Generally Accepted Government Accounting Standards 
(Gagas) and its financial audit manual.  It has conducted engagements that have been made have 
identified some internal control weakness and misstatements/overstatements in the financial 
statements. GAO has been submitted to peer review. 

Source: prepared by the author. 

Finally, every three years, independent organizations perform a peer review of GAO’s 

system of quality control for work done under generally accepted government auditing standards 

to determine whether it is suitably designed and operating effectively. The peer review includes 

a review of audit documentation, tests of functional areas, and staff interviews. The peer 

reviewers brief the Executive Committee, the management, and the staff members. An 

international team from supreme audit institutions performs the peer review of performance 

audits. An international certified public accounting firm conducts the peer review of financial 

audit engagements (GAO’s website; access in October, 4th, 2011). 

So, the GAO is strong independent and performs financial audit on the consolidated 

financial statements. It reports what it considers a best practice and it enhances the credibility of 

financial reporting. 

4. RESULTS, NORMATIVE SOLUTIONS, AND IMPACTS OF FULL-ACCRUAL 

This section presents a summary of the main characteristics and practices of government 

financial reporting and accounting environment in Brazil and the United States and presents 

some normative solutions for the Brazilian case. 

As shown in the previous table 8, ex-ante and ex-post mechanisms for financial reporting 

credibility include accounting-setting body’s status, accounting accrual basis, external auditing’s 

body and external audit body practices in financial audit.  

In fact, good governance (G) is a result of different variables like, for instance, 

transparency (T) and accountability (A), among others (O). Reliable financial reports (R) are 
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part of the transparency context. Reliability is a result of ex-ante mechanisms (x) and ex-post 

mechanisms:  G = f (T, A, O), T = f (R) and R = f (x, y). 

Considering that the main government financial reports have accounting basis, 

mechanisms like that presented here are strongly necessary. They are necessary but not 

sufficient. Other “checks and balances” mechanisms may be considered. Some of them include, 

for instance, segregation of functions between the accounting-setting body and the financial 

report-issuance body, and other environmental variables, like good tools in the financial 

administration. These considerations serve as insights for a construction of an index about good 

governance regarding financial reporting. For each variable, x and y, which are composed of two 

dimensions in this paper, the numbers 0 and 1 could be applied considering if the country 

comply with or do not comply with the proposed benchmarks. 

Table 26 presents a summary comparison between the United States and Brazil regarding 

some analyzed aspects. 

Table 26. Brazil versus US Government Financial Reporting and Accounting Governance in 
Comparison 

 Brazil The United States 
Environment 

Legal system Civil law Common law 
Main laws Law No 4320, of 1964, LRF 1990 CFO Act, 1996 FFMIA Act 
Focus Budget and fiscal performance Assets and liabilities disclosure 

Standards 

Body set 
STN (non-independent), preponderantly, and 

CFC (independent) 
FASAB (quasi-independent) 

Focus 

Cash basis for revenues and accrual basis for 
(most of) expenditures but it has been 

recorded a “modified power of taxation”. 
Pensions and contingent liabilities are not 

recorder. 

Accrual basis but does not record the 
power of taxation, pensions liabilities 

and contingent liabilities 

Financial Statements 
Reports setter STN and CGU US Treasury and OMB 
Consolidated Financial 
statements 

Not all the agencies and funds are included. 
Not all the agencies and funds are 

included. 
Auditing 

Institution TCU GAO 
Independence Independent Independent 
Objectivity (financial 
audit procedures) 

Do not have and do not follow recognizable 
financial audit procedures. 

Have financial audit procedures and 
follow its procedures. 

Source: prepared by the author. 

Analyzing the status quo of Brazil and the United States in the governance structure of 

financial reports, it is observed that there are more dissimilarities than similarities. The only 

characteristic that is similar between both countries is regarding the independence of the external 

audit body.  
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So, applying the numbers for each situation, the US index amount 1 and Brazil index 

amount 0,25 as shown in the table 27. 

Table 27. Brazil versus US Government Financial Reporting and Accounting Governance in 
Comparison 

 Standards Auditing  
 Body Accrual Body Practices  

US 1 1(a) 1 1 4/4 = 1 
Brazil 0 0(b) 1 0 ¼ = 0,25 

Note: (a) it is not full-accrual (the power of taxation and the pensions and contingent liabilities are not recorded); 
(b) accrual only for expenditures, however some tests are being made in order to record the power of taxation. 
Source: prepared by the author. 

Of course, it is not a conclusive study but only a speculative study but it could serve as an 

important index to supporting investment decisions in countries. 

Regarding the results and in order to improve Brazilian governance frameworks, a SWOT 

analysis is presented following. SWOT analysis is a strategic planning method used to evaluate 

the Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats involved in a project and to identify the 

internal and external factors that are favorable and unfavorable to achieve a certain objective24.  

Some environment’s aspects and others are incorporated in this analysis although there 

were not commented in the previous sections. 

Table 27. SWOT Analysis – Brazilian Government Financial Reporting Governance Frameworks 

Objective 
Improve the Brazilian Government Financial Reporting Governance 

Strengths Opportunities 
ENVIRONMENT 
a) Good financial administration frameworks (unified 
budget, unified cash administration, i.e., “single 
account”, Siafi system and a unique plan of accounts); 
b) Civil law system ensures legislative preferences; 
c) National Public Sector Balance (for all both national 
and subnational levels of government) has been 
published annually. 
STANDARDS 
a) Proposed accounting-setting body empowered to set 
standards for both national and subnational levels of 
government; 
b) Good and trained human capital in STN to operate the 
government accounting; 
c) Pre-existent conditions to move to full-accrual 
accounting (application of accrual basis for most of 
expenditures, use of a double-entry recording system and 
presentation of consolidated financial statements at year-
end); 
e) Availability of financial resources; 
f) Recent institutional reforms upgraded the government 
accounting status quo in STN.  

ENVIRONMENT 
a) Good political conditions (huge political base in 
Congress) to debate specific government financial 
reforms; 
b) Big sports events in 2014 (The Fifa World Cup) and 
in 2016 (Olympic Games) increase the claim for 
transparency and good governance as well as some 
recent corruption scandals. 
STANDARDS 
a) Ministry of Finance determined the adoption of IPSAS 
and, recently, determined the constitution of a cost 
accounting system; 
b) Strong engagement of the Brazilian certified 
accountants though CFC; 
c) STN is temporarily empowered to issue accounting 
standards for both national and subnational government 
levels which ensure preponderance to its preferences and 
agility to its interested reforms. 
AUDITING 
a) Peer review of the report of the President’s Accounts 
with the OECD; 
b) Project for improving TCU’s financial audit with the 

                                                 
24 The technique is credited to Albert Humphrey, who led a convention at Stanford University in the 1960s and 
1970s using data from Fortune 500 companies. 
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AUDITING 
a) Strong independence of the TCU; 
b) Good human capital in TCU but it is not appropriated 
trained to deal with financial audit; 
c) Availability of financial resources. 

World Bank.  

Weaknesses Threats 
STANDARDS 
a) Relevant bias in the interpretation of the accounting 
basis disposed in the Law No 4,320, of 1964; 
b) Relevant conflict of interest in STN because of its 
double-rule in sets standards to itself and prepares the 
financial statements; 
c) Relevant conflicts in regulation between STN and 
CFC and lack of the CGF’s implementation; 
d) STN’s periodically standards does not permit the 
consolidation of the accounting view; 
e) TCU and Budget Office, important stakeholders, do 
not participate or engage continuously in the accounting-
setting process. 
AUDITING 
a) Lack of performing financial audit’s engagements 
including absence of standards and guidelines. 

ENVIRONMENT 
a) Financial reporting and accounting issues are seen as 
bureaucratic and sometimes not important or useless 
function. 
b) Strong budgetary culture sponsored by powerful 
stakeholders which difficult modification in the status 
quo. 
STANDARDS 
a) Rigid interpretation of the Law No 4,320 regarding the 
accrual basis; 
b) Budget Office and even some STN sectors are huge 
defenders of the budget and national accounts viewpoint. 
AUDITING 
a) Fragile ability to interpret financial consequences of 
transactions and events in terms of effects on financial 
position. 

Source: prepared by the author. 

As shown in the SWOT analysis, Brazil presents some relevant weaknesses regarding the 

standards and the auditing process. In order to eliminate the main weaknesses presented, at least, 

three normative solutions may to be implemented:  

a) Modification of the Federal Law No 4,320 of 1964 merely and precisely 

regarding the accounting basis (for revenues);  

The proposal solution is to send a Bill to Congress proposing only one 

amendment to the Federal Law No 4,320: “Accounting must be use accrual basis 

for both revenues and expenditures”. 

b) Implementation of the Fiscal Management Council (CGF);  

The proposal solution is, after the Bill be approved, to make a benchmark with the 

US FASAB in order to gather information about its working. 

c) Create the background for conducting financial audit’s engagements in TCU, 

including training and guidelines. 

The proposal solution is to adopt INTOSAI’s ISSAI and to make some “shadow 

audits” and peer review with other SAI. 

It expected that these proposed solutions could generate externalities and improve the 

transparency and the governance frameworks.  

Otherwise, the proposed solutions are not neutral. There are important impacts of adopting 

full-accrual basis. Following is presented the Brazil Federal Government Balance Sheet. The 

balance sheet was prepared under the model of Law No 4,320 but using some prescriptions of 
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CFC’s NBC and STN’s manual. It is not an IPSAS-based balance sheet and is not full accrual 

althoug the CFC and STN prescribes its application. Adjustments were made in the presentation 

of accounts in order to be more comprehensible. The state-owned enterprises were deliberately 

kept in the consolidated due to their nature, since they are quasi-government. The market’s 

accounts in the balance sheet are the basis used to evidence in the accrual basis prescriptions.  

In the assets side, the receivables “Credits and Loans” must be submitted to impairment 

adjustment. Properties must be submitted to depreciation. Other assets must be recongnize, 

although roads, bridges and forests recognition is strongly controvertial. In the liabilites side the 

“Payables Remains Unprocessed” must not be completely adjusted, as proposed, but only in the 

cases that the payable is not required any more. Pensions and contingent liabilities could 

increase the amount required to pay. Considering the proposed adjustments, the new balance 

sheet would have the following configuration. 

Table 28. Brazil Federal Government Balance Sheet Adjusted 

ASSETS 2010 %  LIABILITIES 2010 %  
Current 560,39 27,91  Current 467,59 23,29  
Cash 278,14 13,85  Deposits 10,88 0,54  
Deposits  22,19 1,11  Suppliers and Others 14,92 0,74  
Credits 197,73 9,85 ▼ Payables Remains Unprocessed 62,22 3,10 ▲
Loans 51,33 2,56 ▼ (-) Payables Remains Unprocessed -62,22 -3,10  
Inventory 9,75 0,49  Accruals Debt 2,57 0,13 ▲
Others 1,24 0,06  Bonds - Domestic 327,95 16,33 =
No Current 1.447,45 72,09  Bonds - External 5,20 0,26 =
Long Run 1.151,88 57,37  Writs (judicial debt) 6,41 0,32  
Credits 617,48 30,75 ▼ Others 99,68 4,96  
Loans 578,73 28,82 ▼ No Current 1.190,36 59,28  
Other Credits 7,97 0,40  Deposits 16,65 0,83  
Others 11,91 0,59  Bonds - Domestic 1.088,31 54,20 =
(-) Impairment -64,22 -3,20  Bonds - External 50,46 2,51 =
Permanent 295,57 14,72  Others 34,93 1,74  
Investments 138,54 6,90  Equity 349,90 17,43 ▼
Properties 156,90 7,81 ▼    
Intangibles 0,11 0,01     
Deferred 0,02 0,00     
Sum 2.007,83 100,00  Sum 2.007,85 100,00  

      
Other assets ? ▲ Pensions 1.141,57 ▲

   Contingent Liabilities 1.281,74 ▲
Notes: US$ billion (exchange rate R$ 1,66 in 31/12/2010).  

Source: BGU (2010) available in CGU’s web site (www.cgu.gov.br), access in July, 18th, 2011. Prepared by the 
author. 

The difference between this balance sheet adjusted and the published balance sheet are the 

accrual adjustments in relevant groups of accounts. In a conservative perspective, these 

adjustments would lead to the following conclusions: a) the liabilities are misstated, b) the assets 

are overstated, except the power of taxation; c) pensions and contingent liabilities need to be 

disclosed; and d) other assets can be included in the balance sheet but it is not trivial and is 
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subjected to cost-benefit considerations. In other words, regardless the model, the gap between 

cash basis and accrual basis could be large. Equity and public debt amounts change. The 

application must be prudent and must conciliate the statistical debt report point of view. 

5. FINAL COMMENTS 

Governance in the public sector is important to minimize the asymmetric information in 

the principal-agent relationship, constrain rent-seeking behavior, reduce moral hazards, generate 

externalities, and provide accountability and transparency. Reliable accounting systems and 

appropriate financial reporting are tools of good public sector governance. 

So, the credibility and reliability of government financial reports matters because 

governments may have incentives to present (only) favorable information. Thus, the financial 

reports (a) should be prepared using appropriate accounting standards, called the ex-ante 

mechanism, and (b) should be subjected to a third-party revision (independent/external audits), 

called the ex-post mechanism. It is a simple model. It cannot provide wide generalizations but it 

permits some insight into a country’s governance frameworks regarding financial reporting. 

Good results in this analysis indicate the existence of good governance but they are not sufficient 

to conclude on the whole governance system. Bad results in this analysis are a strong evidence 

of moral hazard realization in the government information presentation. 

Considering these normative prescriptions, this study compared the United States federal 

government financial reporting and Brazilian federal government financial reporting governance 

frameworks regarding some characteristics of the standards (body-setting characteristics and 

standards content) the auditing process (audit body characteristics and the nature of the 

engagement), considering the institutional frameworks (legal system, financial administration 

organization) as a basis.  

The main conclusions are the following. 

According to the analysis, there are two kinds of conflict regarding accounting standards in 

Brazil: a) conflict in focus between the Law No. 4320 (budget in a cash basis) and the regulators 

(accounting in an accrual basis); and b) conflict in standards-setting between the regulators. 

These conflicts increase the cost of transaction. 

Law No 4320, despite of having a budget-focus, permits the full record of assets and 

liabilities in the public sector. This interpretation, however, is not supported by the TCU. This 

body is guided by the conservative principles of Law No 4320. Nevertheless, budget execution 

is still a primary part of financial performance. The civil law model restricts improvements in 

standards, but it serves as a check and balance on the discretionary action of the Executive 
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branch, especially to protect against unsound modifications of accounting standards. The STN 

and the CFC issue accounting standards that are complementary. However, sometimes these 

standards conflict with each other and with Law No 4320. Moreover the STN’s standards change 

every year, despite more stability recently. Currently, STN sets standards for itself. STN has a 

high degree of professional competence and expertise. 

The accrual basis for most budget expenditures has been adopted. Accrual for all 

transactions is progressing. However, it seems that users may still not realize the advantages of 

the accrual basis, which is better suited for planning, financial management, decision making 

and especially for measures of costs of service provided and associated performance 

measurement. However, this conclusion is controversial because it is not clear if the benefits of 

accrual information really exist since the users fail to realize them or if the users will really be 

interested in good governance. Accounting basis modification forward to accrual basis changes 

the amounts of public debt, assets and equity. 

In the United States, in the 90s, the US government made important reforms in the 

financial reporting and accounting system, improved the independence of the accounting-setting 

body and implemented the accrual basis which is considered best practice. These aspects raise 

the credibility of government financial reporting. However, important assets like the power of 

taxation, the pensions and some contingent liabilities are not recorded. 

According to the ex-post prescriptions, TCU in Brazil is strongly independent but does not 

perform financial audits continuously. TCU has a high degree of professional competence and 

expertise. 

In US, the GAO has also strong independence and performs financial audits of the 

consolidated financial statements and reports. This is best practice and enhances the credibility 

of financial reporting. 

There is an extensive literature in corporate and business accounting, but similar literature 

is scarce in government accounting. This paper will contribute to improving comparative 

analysis between countries. This paper should be considered the beginning of a research project. 

Other research topics include: a) quantitative analysis of the effects of migrating from a partial 

accrual basis to a full-accrual basis, b) exploratory comparison between financial reports formats 

and contents, c) comparison between the proposal index and other similar indexes (like 

international transparency index), and d) increase the sample of countries. 
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Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the TCU with respect to the Lima Declaration of INTOSAI 

I - Independence
I.1 - The SAIs 

INTOSAI The degree of their independence is determined by the Constitution; concrete aspects may be 
regulated by means of law. The SAIs needs legal protection, guaranteed by a Supreme Court, to 
protect against interference with respect to carrying out their functions. 

TCU Its independence is mandated by the Federal Constitution, regulated by Federal Law no 8,433 of 1992 
(Organic Law of the TCU), and protected by the Supreme Federal Court. The Constitution guarantees 
the independence of SAI members.

I.2 - Members and staff of the SAIs 
INTOSAI The Constitution guarantees the independence of SAI members. 

TCU The Constitution guarantees independence to TCU members, which have the same prerogatives, 
prohibitions, income and advantages as Supreme Court members. 

INTOSAI SAI staff must be completely independent from the agencies they audit. 

TCU The Federal Constitution guarantees that the TCU maintains its own staff. 
I.3 - Financial independence of the SAIs 

INTOSAI The SAIs must maintain enough financial resources to develop their work. 

TCU The Constitution guarantees that resources will be transferred to the TCU on the 20th of each month. 
II - Relation with the Congress, government and the administration 

II.1 - With Parliament 
INTOSAI The Constitution regulates relations between the SAIs and Congress according to the circumstances 

and needs of each country. 
TCU The Constitution notes that the TCU may conduct audits at Congress’s request. The TCU organic law 

regulates this possibility. 
II.2 - With the government and administration 

INTOSAI Government activities, its administrative authorities and other institutions are controlled by the SAIs. 

TCU The TCU, an external control agency, is under Brazil’s Legislature. 
II.3 - Reports to the Congress and society 

INTOSAI As required by the Constitution, the SAIs must present annual reports to the Congress or state 
agencies on the results of their activities, and publish them for the public. 

TCU As required by the Constitution, the TCU must forward to the Congress annual and quarterly reports 
of its activities, and publish them on its website. 

III - SAI functions
III.1 - Basic functions 

INTOSAI The basic SAIs’ control functions are mandated in the Constitution and the details may be regulated 
by law. 

TCU The basic functions are mandated in the 1988 Constitution and others are in Federal Law no 8,443 of 
1992 (Organic Law of the TCU). 
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III.2 - Control over government activity 
INTOSAI All government activity is under the SAIs’ control, regardless of whether it is included in the general 

budget. 
TCU The Constitution states that the TCU should control all public resources; the TCU’s Organic Law 

provides for control of budgetary and non-budgetary resources. 
IV - SAI powers

IV.1 - Investigative tasks 
INTOSAI The SAIs must have access to all documents related to the audited agencies’ operations and may 

request any reports they consider necessary. 
TCU The Constitution guarantees the TCU access to all information, except that which is protected by 

fiscal or banking secrecy. The Organic Law of the TCU regulates this access, clarifying the 
information permitted and forbidden. 

IV.2 - Execution of the SAIs’ recommendations/determinations 
INTOSAI Audited agencies must respond to the SAIs’ findings within the time frames generally determined by 

law. 
TCU The TCU’s Organic Law sets deadlines for responding to its requests; failure to respond may result in 

a fine. 

Source: Vieira (2009). 


